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PART I
 
Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the “Safe Harbor” Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
 
This document includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements relate to analyses and other
information that are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements also relate to the Trans World Entertainment
Corporation’s (“the Company’s”) future prospects, developments and business strategies. The statements contained in this document that are not statements of historical fact
may include forward-looking statements that involve a number of risks and uncertainties.
 
We have used the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “predict”, “project”, and similar terms and phrases, including
references to assumptions, in this document to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made based on management’s expectations and
beliefs concerning future events and are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of
which are beyond the Company’s control, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements.
The following factors are among those that may cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s forward-looking statements.
 

·    new product introductions;
·    continued and accelerated declines in compact disc (“CD”) and home video

industry sales;
·    highly competitive nature of the retail entertainment business;
·    advancements in technology, including digital distribution and media

streaming;
·    competitive pricing;
·    current economic conditions and changes in mall traffic;
·    dependence on key employees, the ability to hire new employees and pay

competitive wages;

 ·    the Company’s level of debt and related restrictions and limitations;
·    future cash flows;
·    availability of real estate;
·    vendor terms;
·    interest rate fluctuations;
·    access to third party digital marketplaces
·    adverse publicity;
·    product liability claims;
·    changes in laws and regulations;
·    breach of data security;
·    increase in Amazon Marketplace fulfillment and storage fees and
·    the other matters set forth under Item 1A “Risk Factors,” Item 7

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”, and other sections of this Annual Report on Form
10-K

 
The reader should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement made by us in this document, or elsewhere, pertains only as of the date on which we make it. New risks and
uncertainties come up from time-to-time and it’s impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect us. In light of these risks and uncertainties, you should keep in
mind that any forward-looking statements made in this report or elsewhere might not occur.
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In addition, the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates
and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect:
 

· the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses,
· the reported amounts and classification of assets and liabilities, and
· the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

 
Actual results may vary from our estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are based on historical results, assumptions that we make, as well as assumptions
by third parties.
 
Item 1. BUSINESS
Company Background
 
Trans World Entertainment Corporation, which, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, is referred to herein as “the Company”, “we”, “us” and “our”, was incorporated in
New York in 1972. We own 100% of the outstanding Common Stock of Record Town, Inc. and etailz, Inc. See below for additional information.
 
Our Reportable Segments
 
We operate our business in two segments:
 
For Your Entertainment Segment (“fye”)
The Company’s fye segment operates retail stores and two e-commerce sites and continues to be one of the largest specialty retailers of entertainment products, including trend,
video, music, electronics and related products in the United States.
 

Stores and Store Concepts
 

As of February 2, 2019, the fye segment operated 210 stores totaling approximately 1.2 million square feet in the United States, the District of Columbia and the U.S. Virgin
Islands predominantly under the For Your Entertainment brand.
 

Mall stores. The Company operated 193 traditional mall-based stores as of February 2, 2019. Mall stores average about 5,200 square feet and carry a full complement of
entertainment products, including trend, video, music, electronics, and related products.
 
Video only stores. The Company operated 5 video only stores as of February 2, 2019, under the Suncoast Motion Pictures brand. These stores specialize in the sale of video
and related product. They average about 2,500 square feet.
 
Freestanding Stores. The Company operated 12 freestanding stores predominantly under the fye brand. They carry a full complement of entertainment products, including
trend, video, music, electronics, and related products and are located in freestanding, strip center and downtown locations. The freestanding stores average approximately
12,700 square feet.
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Retail Web Sites
 

The fye segment operates two retail web sites, www.fye.com and www.secondspin.com. fye.com is our flagship site and carries entertainment products, including trend, video,
music, electronics and related products. SecondSpin.com is a leading seller of used CDs, DVDs, and Blu-Ray online and carries one of the largest catalogs of used media
available online. 
 
etailz Segment (“etailz”)
etailz is a leading online marketplace retail expert. etailz uses a data driven approach to digital marketplace retailing utilizing proprietary software and e-commerce insight to
identify new distributors and wholesalers, isolate emerging product trends, and optimize price positioning and inventory purchase decisions.
 

etailz Retail Partnerships
 
Fulfilled by Amazon Global. etailz is a leading Amazon marketplace retailer that partners with brands and employs advanced technology and strategies to grow sales
both domestically and internationally.
 
Additional Marketplace Opportunities. etailz partners with companies to expand their brand on eBay, Jet and Walmart.
 
Drop Ship. Drop ship arrangements allow etailz to offer partners’ entire catalog across marketplaces, expanding their brand presence and capturing additional sales.
 

Merchandise Categories
 
fye Segment
Net sales by merchandise category as a percentage of total net sales for fiscal 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
 
  2018  2017
         
Lifestyle/Trend   41.5%  37.3%
Video   27.6   30.9 
Music   17.6   19.3 
Electronics   13.3   12.5 

Total   100.0%  100.0%
 
etailz Segment
etailz generates revenue across a broad array of product lines primarily through the Amazon Marketplace. Approximately 60% of total etailz revenue was generated by four
major categories: health & personal care; home/kitchen/grocery; tools/office/outdoor; and baby.
 
Business Environment
 
fye Segment
Video and music accounted for approximately 45% of the segment’s net sales in fiscal 2018 versus approximately 50% of net sales in fiscal 2017. Physical media sales have
suffered from the shift of content to digital distribution, media streaming and online retailers that offer entertainment products to consumers and collectively have gained a
larger share of the market.
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etailz Segment
The Company’s etailz segment operates as a third party e-commerce market place (“Digital Marketplace”) reseller. Digital Marketplaces are e-commerce platforms where
online retailers enable third party sellers access to their website and customer base to sell various merchandise. Digital marketplaces allow consumers to shop from a variety of
merchants in one place and have become an integral part of many e-commerce sellers’ businesses, including Amazon.com, Walmart.com, Jet.com, and ebay.
 
E-commerce sales are growing faster than physical store sales. According to the U.S. retail e-commerce sales statistics, total estimated e-commerce sales for 2019 are projected
at $560.7 billion, an increase of 11% from 2018, while e-commerce sales in 2018 accounted for 10% of total retail sales as compared to 9% of total retail sales for 2017.
 
During fiscal 2018, in response to the general decline in operating results, management implemented the following strategic initiatives, operational efficiencies and other
considerations directed towards improving the etailz segment’s performance, operations, and cash flow:
 
Vendor Rationalization and Remediation

Using a profit driven approach, the Company determined there was an opportunity to rationalize and remediate its vendor portfolio to improve profitability, streamline core
operations and improve efficiencies. Rationalization and remediation activities included terminating unprofitable vendors and improving vendor relationships through
negotiations focused on improvements to gross margins and supply chain efficiencies.
 

SG&A Rationalization
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, etailz implemented certain strategic initiatives in order to create operation efficiencies directed towards improving the etailz
segment’s performance, operations, and cash flow to support the ongoing operating model changes and to create a leaner organization that is better aligned with current and
future business focus. As part of the initiatives, a 30% reduction in force was implemented during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, in addition to changes in senior
management. Additional reductions implemented included expenses related to technology, hardware, and employee benefits.
 

Working Capital Optimization
The segment is in the process of implementing strategies that will enhance sales, improve inventory turns and decrease Amazon storage fees.
 

Competition
 
fye Segment
The specialty entertainment retail industry is intensely competitive and subject to rapid changes in consumer preferences. We compete with mass merchants, consumer
electronics stores, lifestyle retailers and online retailers. Our media products are also distributed through other methods such as digital delivery. We also compete with sellers of
pre-owned and value media products. Additionally, we compete with other forms of entertainment activities, including casual and mobile games, movies, television, theater,
sporting events and family entertainment centers.
 
We compete with Walmart, Inc.; Target Corporation; Amazon.com, Inc. (“Amazon”); and Best Buy Co., Inc., among others.
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The Company has diversified its products and taken other measures to position itself competitively within its industry. The Company believes it effectively competes in the
following ways:
§ Diversified product mix: the Company is expanding the range of product offerings in our non-media businesses. As a result, the non-media categories contribution to total

sales increased to 55% in fiscal 2018 as compared to 50% in fiscal 2017.
§ Customer service: the Company offers personalized customer service in its stores guided by a commitment to approach every customer with gratitude, humility and respect.
§ Location and convenience: a strength of the Company is its convenient store locations that are often the exclusive retailer in regional shopping centers offering a full

complement of entertainment products.
§ Marketing: the Company utilizes in-store visual displays, live events and digital marketing strategy that leverages email marketing, keyword buys, search engine

optimization, social media, and display advertising. 
 
etailz Segment
etailz competes with other third-party marketplace sellers using a data driven approach to digital marketplace retailing utilizing proprietary software and e-commerce insight
coupled with a direct customer relationship engagement to identify new distributors and wholesalers, isolate emerging product trends, and optimize price positioning and
inventory purchase decisions.
 
Seasonality
 
The Company’s business is seasonal, with its fourth fiscal quarter constituting the Company’s peak selling period. In fiscal 2018, fourth quarter revenue accounted for
approximately 30% of annual total revenue. In anticipation of increased sales activity in the fourth fiscal quarter, the Company purchases additional inventory and hires seasonal
associates to supplement its core store sales and distribution center staff. If, for any reason, the Company’s net sales were below seasonal norms during the fourth fiscal quarter,
the Company’s operating results could be adversely affected. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, fye comparable store sales (as defined within Key Performance Indicators
of Item 7) increased 2.8% compared to the same quarter last year. etailz sales declined 8.3% for the fourth fiscal quarter of 2018 compared to the same quarter last year and
adversely affected annual results. Quarterly sales can also be affected by the timing of new product releases, new store openings or closings and the performance of existing
stores.
 
Advertising
 
fye Segment
The Company makes use of visual displays including in-store signage and external banners. The Company employs a marketing strategy including email blasts and social
networking. Certain vendors from whom the Company purchases merchandise offer advertising allowances, of varying duration and amount, to promote their merchandise.
 
etailz Segment
etailz utilizes social media and content marketing to strengthen its visibility within the industry and locally. The segment’s Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, Pinterest, and
Twitter accounts have a strong and engaged following. etailz public relations efforts consist of press releases, articles in industry publications, and articles on our website. In
addition, etailz hosts conferences for its partners which strengthens its presence within the industry and establishes etailz as a leader in online marketplace retail.
 
Within in its marketing division, etailz offers advertising services to its partners including social media ads, influencer campaigns, and marketplace advertising.
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Suppliers and Purchasing
 
fye Segment
The fye segment purchases inventory from approximately 460 suppliers. In fiscal 2018, 37% of fye purchases were made from ten suppliers including Universal Studio Home
Entertainment, Paramount Video , Buena Vista Home Video, SONY Music, Twentieth Century Fox Home Entertainment, Warner/Elektra/Atlantic, Universal Music Group
Distribution, Funko LLC, Warner Home Video, and Alliance Entertainment.
 
etailz Segment
During fiscal 2018, etailz purchased inventory from various suppliers in numerous product categories, primarily through the Amazon Marketplace. In fiscal 2018, no individual
supplier exceeded 10% of etailz revenue.
 
The Company does not have material long-term purchase contracts; rather, it purchases products from its suppliers on an order-by-order basis. Historically, the Company has
not experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory sources of supply and management believes that it will continue to have access to adequate sources of supply.
 
Trade Customs and Practices
 
Under current trade practices with large suppliers, retailers of music and video products are generally entitled to return unsold merchandise they have purchased in exchange for
other merchandise carried by the suppliers. The largest music suppliers charge a related merchandise return penalty or return handling fee. Most manufacturers and distributors
of video products do not charge a return penalty or handling fee. Under current trade practices with large suppliers, retailers of trend, electronics, video games and related
products may receive markdown support from suppliers to help clear discontinued or slow turning merchandise. Merchandise return policies and other trade practices have not
changed significantly in recent years. The Company generally adapts its purchasing policies to changes in the policies of its largest suppliers.
 
Employees
 
As of February 2, 2019, the Company employed approximately 2,200 people, of whom approximately 1,000 were employed on a full-time basis. Others were employed on a
part-time basis.
 
fye Segment
The fye segment had approximately 800 full-time employees and approximately 1,200 part-time employees. The fye segment hires seasonal sales and distribution center
employees during its fourth quarter peak selling season to ensure continued levels of personalized customer service and in-stock position. Assistant store managers, store
managers, district managers and regional managers are eligible to receive incentive compensation based on the sales and/or profitability of stores for which they are responsible.
Sales support managers are generally eligible to receive incentive compensation based on achieving Company performance targets. None of the Company’s employees are
covered by collective bargaining agreements and management believes that the Company enjoys favorable relations with its employees.
 
etailz segment
During the fourth quarter of 2018, etailz implemented certain strategic initiatives in order to create operation efficiencies directed towards improving the etailz segment’s
performance, operations, and cash flow to support the ongoing operating model changes and to create a leaner organization that is better aligned with current and future business
focus. As part of the initiatives, a 30% reduction in force was implemented during the fourth
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quarter of fiscal 2018, in addition to changes in senior management. After the reduction in force, as of February 2, 2019, the etailz segment employed 189 full-time and 15 part-
time employees.
 
Trademarks
 
The trademarks, for your entertainment (fye), etailz, and Suncoast Motion Pictures are registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and are owned by the Company.
We believe that our rights to these trademarks are adequately protected. We hold no material patents, licenses, franchises or concessions; however, our established trademarks
and trade names are essential to maintaining our competitive position in the entertainment retail industry.
 
Information Systems
 
fye Segment
 
The Company’s inventory management systems and point-of-sale technology show daily sales and in-store stock by title by store. The systems use this data to automatically
generate replenishment shipments to each store from our distribution centers, enabling each store to carry a merchandise assortment uniquely tailored to its own sales mix and
rate of sale. Call lists and reservation system also provide our buying staff with information to determine order size and inventory management for store-by-store inventory
allocation.
 
To support most operations, the Company uses a large-scale computing environment with a state-of-the-art storage area network, a wired and wireless corporate network
installed at regional headquarters, and a secure virtual private network to access and provide services to computing assets located in stores, distribution centers and satellite
offices, and to the mobile workforce.
 
An Oracle based point-of-sale system has been enhanced to facilitate trade-in transactions, including automatic lookup of trade-in prices and printing of machine-readable bar
codes to facilitate in-store restocking of pre-owned products. In addition, our central database of all pre-owned products allows us to actively manage the pricing and product
availability of our pre-owned products across our store base and reallocate our pre-owned products as necessary.
 
etailz segment
etailz has a data driven approach to digital marketplace retail utilizing proprietary software. Using data collected from the marketplaces, optimal inventory thresholds and
purchasing trends are calculated within their advanced inventory management software developed in-house. etailz also has proprietary software related to pricing, marketing,
and marketplace seller information. To support most operations, etailz uses cloud computing services and a secure network to provide computing services.  
 
Available Information
 
The Company’s headquarters are located at 38 Corporate Circle, Albany, New York 12203, and its telephone number is (518) 452-1242. The Company’s corporate website
address is www.twec.com. The Company makes available, free of charge, its Exchange Act Reports (Forms 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K and any amendments thereto) on its web site as
soon as practical after the reports are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The public may read and copy any materials the Company files with the SEC
at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC. This information can be obtained from the site http://www.sec.gov. The Company’s Common Stock, $0.01 par value, is listed on the NASDAQ
Global Market under the trading
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symbol “TWMC”. The Company’s fiscal year end is the Saturday closest to January 31. The fiscal 2018 (“fiscal 2018”) year ended on February 2, 2019 and fiscal 2017 (“fiscal
2017”) year ended February 3, 2018. Fiscal 2018 consisted of 52 weeks and fiscal 2017 consisted of 53 weeks.
 
Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
The following is a discussion of certain factors, which could affect the financial results of the Company.
 
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
 
The Company’s results of operations are affected by the continued declines in the physical video and music industries.
Physical media sales have suffered from the shift of content to digital distribution, streaming and online retailers that offer entertainment products at discounted prices and
collectively have gained a larger share of the market. Physical video and music represent approximately 45% of sales and have been impacted by new distribution channels,
including digital distribution, streaming and internet fulfillment.
 
If we cannot successfully implement our business strategy our growth and profitability could be adversely impacted.
Our future results will depend, among other things, on our success in implementing our business strategy. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in implementing
our business strategy or that the strategy will be successful in sustaining acceptable levels of sales growth and profitability.
 
During fiscal 2018, in response to the general decline in operating results, management implemented the following strategic initiatives, operational efficiencies and other
considerations directed towards improving the etailz segment’s performance, operations, and cash flow:
 
Vendor Rationalization and Remediation

Using a profit driven approach, the Company determined there was an opportunity to rationalize and remediate its vendor portfolio to improve profitability, streamline core
operations and improve efficiencies. Rationalization and remediation activities included terminating unprofitable vendors and improving vendor relationships through
negotiations focused on improvements to gross margins and supply chain efficiencies.
 

SG&A Rationalization
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, etailz implemented certain strategic initiatives in order to create operation efficiencies directed towards improving the etailz
segment’s performance, operations, and cash flow to support the ongoing operating model changes and to create a leaner organization that is better aligned with current and
future business focus. As part of the initiatives, a 30% reduction in force was implemented during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. Additional reductions implemented
included expenses related to technology, hardware, and employee benefits.
 

Working Capital Optimization
The segment is in the process of implementing strategies that will enhance sales, improve inventory turns and decrease Amazon storage fees.
 

The Company’s results of operations may suffer if the Company does not accurately predict consumer acceptance of new products or distribution technologies or
adapt to a shift to multichannel experience.
The entertainment industry is characterized by changing technology, evolving format standards, and new and enhanced product introductions. These characteristics require the
Company to respond quickly to technological
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changes and understand the impact of these changes on customers’ preferences. If the Company is unable to participate in new product or distribution technologies, its results of
operations may suffer. Specifically, CD and DVD formats have experienced a continuous decline as digital forms of music and video content have become more prevalent. If
the Company does not timely adapt to these changing technologies and sufficiently shift to other merchandise categories, operating results could significantly suffer.
 
In addition, multichannel retailing is rapidly evolving with the increasing use of computers, tablets, mobile phones and other devices to shop in stores and online and the
increased use of social media as a means of interacting with our customers and enhancing their shopping experiences. If we are unable to adapt to the growth of multichannel
retailing, and keep pace with the changing expectations of our customers and new developments by our competitors, customer experience could be negatively affected, resulting
in a loss of customer confidence and satisfaction, and lost sales, which could adversely affect our reputation and results of operations.
 
Increased competition from existing retailers, including internet retailers, could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.
The Company competes with a wide variety of entertainment retailers, including mass merchandisers, consumer electronics outlets, internet retailers and independent operators,
some of whom have greater financial and other resources than the Company and frequently sell their product at discounted prices or with added value.
 
In addition, the Company’s success depends on our ability to positively differentiate ourselves from other retailers. The retail business is highly competitive. In the past, the
Company has been able to compete by differentiating our customer shopping experience, by creating an attractive value proposition through a careful combination of price,
merchandise assortment, convenience, customer service and marketing efforts. Customer perceptions regarding our stores, our in-stock position and deep assortment of product
are also factors in our ability to compete. No single competitive factor is dominant, and actions by our competitors on any of these factors could have an adverse effect on our
sales, gross profit and expenses. If we fail to continue to positively differentiate ourselves from our competitors, our results of operations could be adversely affected.
 
The ability to attract customers to our stores depends heavily on the success of the shopping malls in which many of our stores are located; any decrease in consumer
traffic in those malls could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.
In order to generate customer traffic, we depend heavily on locating many of our stores in prominent locations within shopping malls. Sales at these stores are derived from the
volume of traffic in those malls. Our stores benefit from the ability of a mall’s other tenants to generate consumer traffic in the vicinity of our stores. Our sales volume and mall
traffic generally may be adversely affected by, among other things, economic downturns in a particular area, competition from e-commerce retailers, non-mall retailers and
other malls, increases in gasoline prices, fluctuations in exchange rates in border or tourism-oriented locations and the closing or decline in popularity of other stores in the
malls in which we are located. An uncertain economic outlook could curtail new shopping mall development, decrease shopping mall traffic, reduce the number of hours that
shopping mall operators keep their shopping malls open or force them to cease operations entirely. A reduction in mall traffic as a result of these or any other factors could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
Continued increases in Amazon Marketplace fulfillment and storage fees could have an adverse impact on our profit margin and results of operations.
etailz utilizes Amazon’s Freight by Amazon (“FBA”) platform to store their products at the Amazon fulfillment center and to pack and distribute these products to customers. If
Amazon continues to increase its FBA fees, our profit margin for the etailz segment could be adversely affected.
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The Company’s business is influenced by general economic conditions.
The Company’s performance is subject to general economic conditions and their impact on levels of discretionary consumer spending. General economic conditions impacting
discretionary consumer spending include, among others, wages and employment, consumer debt, reductions in net worth, residential real estate and mortgage markets, taxation,
fuel and energy prices, interest rates, consumer confidence and other macroeconomic factors.
 
Consumer purchases of discretionary items, such as our merchandise, generally decline during recessionary periods and other periods where disposable income is adversely
affected. A downturn in the economy affects specialty retailers disproportionately, as consumers may prioritize reductions in discretionary spending, which could have a direct
impact on purchases of our merchandise and adversely impact our results of operations. In addition, reduced consumer spending may drive us and our competitors to offer
additional products at promotional prices, which would have a negative impact on gross profit.
 
Disruption of global capital and credit markets may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and capital resources.
Distress in the financial markets has in the past and can in the future result in extreme volatility in security prices, diminished liquidity and credit availability. There can be no
assurance that our liquidity will not be affected by changes in the financial markets and the global economy or that our capital resources will at all times be sufficient to satisfy
our liquidity needs.
 
Because of our floating rate credit facility, we may be adversely affected by interest rate changes.
Our financial position may be affected by fluctuations in interest rates, as our credit facility is subject to floating interest rates. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors,
including governmental monetary policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions and other factors beyond our control. If we were to borrow against our
senior credit facility, a significant increase in interest rates could have an adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.
 
The Company is dependent upon access to capital, including bank credit facilities and short-term vendor financing, for its liquidity needs.
The Company must have sufficient sources of liquidity to fund its working capital requirements and indebtedness. The Company believes that the combination of its cash and
cash equivalents on hand, cash flow received from operations, funds available under the Company’s credit facility and short-term vendor financing will be sufficient to meet the
Company’s normal working capital and debt service requirements for at least the next twelve months. If these sources of liquidity do not satisfy the Company’s requirements,
the Company may need to seek additional financing. The future availability of financing will depend on a variety of factors, such as economic and market conditions, the
availability of credit and the Company’s credit rating, as well as the Company’s reputation with potential lenders. These factors could materially adversely affect the Company’s
ability to fund its working capital requirements, costs of borrowing, and the Company’s financial position and results of operations would be adversely impacted.
 
Historically, we have experienced declines and we may continue to experience fluctuation in our level of sales and results from operations.
A variety of factors has historically affected, and will continue to affect, our sales results and profit margins. These factors include general, regional and national economic
conditions; competition; actions taken by our competitors; consumer trends and preferences; new product introductions and changes in our product mix; timing and
effectiveness of promotional events and weather. fye’s annual comparable store sales may decline further than they did in fiscal 2018. Also, they may vary from quarter to
quarter as our business is highly seasonal in nature. Our highest sales and operating income historically occur during the fourth fiscal quarter, which is due in part to the holiday
selling season. The fourth fiscal quarter generated approximately 30% of our
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total revenue for fiscal 2018. Any decrease in our fourth fiscal quarter sales, whether due to a slow holiday selling season, unseasonable weather conditions, economic
conditions or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results for the entire fiscal year. There is no assurance that we
will achieve positive levels of sales and earnings growth, and any decline in our future growth or performance could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
 
Failure to open new stores or renew existing leases in profitable stores may limit our earnings.
Historically, the Company’s growth has come from adding stores. The Company opens new stores if it finds desirable locations and is able to negotiate suitable lease terms for
profitability. A lack of new store growth may impact the Company’s ability to increase sales and earnings. During fiscal 2018, the Company did not open any new stores and
closed 50 stores with expiring leases. The Company regularly renews leases at existing locations if those stores are profitable. Failure to renew these leases may impact the
Company’s earnings. See Item 2: Properties, for timing of lease expirations.
 
A change in one or more of the Company’s vendors’ policies or the Company’s relationship with those vendors could adversely affect the Company’s results of
operations.
The Company is dependent on its vendors to supply merchandise in a timely and efficient manner. If a vendor fails to deliver on its commitments, whether due to financial
difficulties or other reasons, the Company could experience merchandise shortages that could lead to lost sales.
 
Approximately 37% of fye segment’s purchases come from ten major suppliers. As is standard in its industry, the Company does not maintain long-term contracts with its
suppliers but instead makes purchases on an order-by-order basis. If the Company fails to maintain customary trade terms or enjoy positive vendor relations, it could have an
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations.
 
Historically, the etailz segment has not experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory sources of supply and management believes that it will continue to have access to
adequate sources of supply. No individual supplier exceeded 10% of etailz purchases.
 
etailz revenue is dependent upon maintaining etailz’s relationship with Amazon and failure to do so, or any restrictions on our ability to offer products on the
Amazon Marketplace, could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
etailz generates substantially all of its revenue through the Amazon Marketplace. Therefore, we depend in large part on our relationship with Amazon for the continued growth
of the etailz segment. In particular, we depend on our ability to offer products on the Amazon Marketplace. We also depend on Amazon for the timely delivery of products to
customers. Any adverse change in our relationship with Amazon, including restrictions on the ability to offer products or termination of the relationship, could adversely affect
the continued growth of our etailz segment and our financial condition and results of operations.
 
The Company’s results of operations are affected by the availability of new products.
The Company’s business is affected by the release of “hit” music and video titles, which can create fluctuations in sales. It is not possible to determine the timing of these
fluctuations or the future availability of hit titles. The Company is dependent upon the major music and movie producers to continue to produce hit products. To the extent that
new hit releases are not available, or not available at prices attractive to consumers, or, if manufacturers fail to introduce or delay the introduction of new products, the
Company’s results of operations may be adversely affected.
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If the Company’s vendors fail to provide marketing and merchandising support at historical levels, the Company’s results of operations could be adversely affected.
The manufacturers of entertainment products have typically provided retailers with significant marketing and merchandising support for their products. As part of this support,
the Company receives cooperative advertising and other allowances from these vendors. These allowances enable the Company to actively promote and merchandise the
products it sells at its stores and on its websites. If the Company’s vendors fail to provide this support at historical levels, the Company’s results of operations could be
negatively impacted.
 
Parties with whom the Company does business may be subject to insolvency risks or may otherwise become unable or unwilling to perform their obligations to the
Company.
The Company is a party to contracts, transactions and business relationships with various third parties, including vendors, suppliers, service providers and lenders, pursuant to
which such third parties have performance, payment and other obligations to the Company. In some cases, the Company depends upon such third parties to provide essential
products, services or other benefits, including with respect to store and distribution center locations, merchandise, advertising, software development and support, logistics, other
agreements for goods and services in order to operate the Company’s business in the ordinary course, extensions of credit, credit card accounts and related receivables, and other
vital matters. Economic, industry and market conditions could result in increased risks to the Company associated with the potential financial distress or insolvency of such third
parties. If any of these third parties were to become subject to bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings, the rights and benefits of the Company in relation to its contracts,
transactions and business relationships with such third parties could be terminated, modified in a manner adverse to the Company, or otherwise impaired. The Company cannot
make any assurances that it would be able to arrange for alternate or replacement contracts, transactions or business relationships on terms as favorable as the Company’s
existing contracts, transactions or business relationships, if at all. Any inability on the part of the Company to do so could negatively affect the Company’s cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations.
 
Breach of data security could harm our business and standing with our customers.
The protection of our customer, employee and business data is critical to us. Our business, like that of most retailers, involves the receipt and transmission of customers’
personal information, consumer preferences and transmission of the payment card information, as well as confidential information about our employees, our suppliers and our
Company. We rely on commercially available systems, software, tools and monitoring to provide security for processing, transmission and storage of all such data, including
confidential information. Despite the security measures we have in place, our facilities and systems, and those of our third-party service providers, may be vulnerable to
security breaches, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming or human errors, or other similar events. Unauthorized parties may attempt to gain
access to our systems or information through fraud or other means, including deceiving our employees or third-party service providers. The methods used to obtain
unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems are also constantly changing and evolving, and may be difficult to anticipate or detect. We have
implemented and regularly review and update our control systems, processes and procedures to protect against unauthorized access to or use of secured data and to prevent data
loss. However, the ever-evolving threats mean we must continually evaluate and adapt our systems and processes, and there is no guarantee that they will be adequate to
safeguard against all data security breaches or misuses of data. Any security breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure of customer payment
card or personal information or employee personal or confidential information, whether by us or our vendors, could damage our reputation, expose us to risk of litigation and
liability, disrupt our operations, harm our business and have an adverse impact upon our net sales and profitability. As the regulatory environment related to information
security, data collection and use, and privacy becomes increasingly rigorous, with new and changing requirements applicable to our business, compliance with those
requirements could also result in additional costs. Further, if we are unable to comply with the security standards established by banks and the credit card industry, we may be

12



subject to fines, restrictions and expulsion from card acceptance programs, which could adversely affect our retail operations.
 
Our hardware and software systems are vulnerable to damage, theft or intrusion that could harm our business.
Our success, in particular our ability to successfully manage inventory levels and process customer transactions, largely depends upon the efficient operation of our computer
hardware and software systems. We use management information systems to track inventory at the store level and aggregate daily sales information, communicate customer
information and process purchasing card transactions, process shipments of goods and report financial information.
 
Any failure of our computer hardware or software systems that causes an interruption in our operations or a decrease in inventory tracking could result in reduced net sales and
profitability. Additionally, if any data intrusion, security breach, misappropriation or theft were to occur, we could incur significant costs in responding to such event, including
responding to any resulting claims, litigation or investigations, which could harm our operating results.
 
Our inability or failure to protect our intellectual property rights, or any claimed infringement by us of third party intellectual rights, could have a negative impact
on our operating results.
Our trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property, including proprietary software, are valuable assets that are critical to our
success. The unauthorized reproduction or other misappropriation of our intellectual property could cause a decline in our revenue. In addition, any infringement or other
intellectual property claim made against us could be time-consuming to address, result in costly litigation, cause product delays, require us to enter into royalty or licensing
agreements or result in our loss of ownership or use of the intellectual property.
 
Loss of key personnel or the inability to attract, train and retain qualified employees could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.
The Company believes that its future prospects depend, to a significant extent, on the services of its executive officers. Our future success will also depend on our ability to
attract and retain qualified key personnel. The loss of the services of certain of the Company’s executive officers and other key management personnel could adversely affect the
Company’s results of operations.
 
In addition to our executive officers, the Company’s business is dependent on our ability to attract, train and retain a large number of qualified team members. Many of those
team members are employed in entry-level or part-time positions with historically high turnover rates. Our ability to meet our labor needs while controlling our costs is subject
to external factors such as unemployment levels, health care costs and changing demographics. If we are unable to attract and retain adequate numbers of qualified team
members, our operations, customer service levels and support functions could suffer. Those factors, together with increased wage and benefit costs, could adversely affect our
results of operations.
 
Failure to comply with legal and regulatory requirements could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.
The Company’s business is subject to a wide array of laws and regulations. Significant legislative changes that impact our relationship with our workforce (none of which is
represented by unions) could increase our expenses and adversely affect our operations. Examples of possible legislative changes impacting our relationship with our workforce
include changes to an employer’s obligation to recognize collective bargaining units, the process by which collective bargaining units are negotiated or imposed, minimum
wage requirements, health care mandates, and changes in overtime regulations.
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Our policies, procedures and internal controls are designed to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, including those imposed by the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the NASDAQ Global Market, as well as applicable employment laws. Additional legal and regulatory requirements increase the complexity of the regulatory
environment in which we operate and the related cost of compliance. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations may result in damage to our reputation, financial
condition and market price of our stock.
 
We could be materially and adversely affected if our distribution center is disrupted.
We operate a distribution center in Albany, New York. We ship approximately 82% of our fye segment merchandise inventory through our distribution center. If our
distribution center is destroyed or disrupted for any reason, including weather, fire, labor, or other issues we could incur significantly higher costs and longer lead times
associated with distributing our products to our stores during the time it takes to reopen or replace the distribution center.
 
We maintain business interruption insurance to protect us from the costs relating to matters such as a shutdown, but our insurance may not be sufficient, or the insurance
proceeds may not be timely paid to us, in the event of a shutdown.
 
We may face difficulties in meeting our labor needs to effectively operate our business.
We are heavily dependent upon our labor workforce in the geographic areas where we conduct our business. Our compensation packages are designed to provide benefits
commensurate with our level of expected service. However, within our retail and logistics operations, we face the challenge of filling many positions at wage scales that are
appropriate to the industry and competitive factors. We also face other risks in meeting our labor needs, including competition for qualified personnel and overall unemployment
levels. Changes in any of these factors, including a shortage of available workforce in areas in which we operate, could interfere with our ability to adequately service our
customers or to open suitable locations and could result in increasing labor costs.
 
Our business could be adversely affected by increased labor costs, including costs related to an increase in minimum wage and health care.
Labor is one of the primary components in the cost of operating our business.  Increased labor costs, whether due to competition, unionization, increased minimum wage, state
unemployment rates, health care, or other employee benefits costs may adversely impact our operating expenses.  A considerable amount of our store team members are paid at
rates related to the federal or state minimum wage and any changes to the minimum wage rate may increase our operating expenses.  Furthermore, inconsistent increases in state
and or city minimum wage requirements limit our ability to increase prices across all markets and channels.  Additionally, we are self-insured with respect to our health care
coverage in the U.S. and do not purchase third party insurance for the health insurance benefits provided to employees with the exception of pre-defined stop loss coverage,
which helps limit the cost of large claims. There is no assurance that future health care legislation will not adversely impact our results or operations.  
 
Litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our business is subject to the risk of litigation by employees, consumers, suppliers, competitors, stockholders, government agencies or others through private actions, class
actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory actions or other litigation. The outcome of litigation, particularly class action lawsuits and regulatory actions, is difficult to assess
or quantify. We may incur losses relating to these claims, and in addition, these proceedings could cause us to incur costs and may require us to devote resources to defend
against these claims that could adversely affect our results of operations. For a description of current legal proceedings, see “Part I, Item 3, Legal Proceedings.”
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Certain of our strategies, including product innovations and expanding our exclusive offerings, may present greater risks.
We are continuously assessing opportunities to improve store productivity and complementary products and services related to our core business, including product innovations
and exclusive offerings. We may expend both capital and personnel resources on such business opportunities which may or may not be successful. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to develop product innovations and exclusive offerings to a point where they will become profitable or generate positive cash flow.
 
An impairment of the carrying value of fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill has negatively affected and may in the future negatively affect our financial
results.
Because we have grown in part through acquisitions, goodwill and other acquired intangible assets have represented a substantial portion of our total assets.
 
Under generally accepted accounting principles, we assess our long-lived assets for impairment whenever economic events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated annually for impairment.
 
During fiscal 2018, as a result of triggering events, the Company performed impairment tests on its fixed assets and intangible assets, and concluded that both its fixed assets
and intangible assets were partially impaired. Additionally, as a result of the annual impairment review, the Company determined that goodwill was fully impaired during 2018.
The Company recorded impairment losses of approximately $4.1 million and $16.4 million for the fixed assets and intangible assets, respectively. The Company recorded an
impairment loss of $39.2 million for goodwill.
 
In the future, significant negative industry or general economic trends, disruptions to our business and unexpected significant changes or planned changes in our use of our long-
lived assets may result in additional impairments to our fixed assets and intangible assets. Any reduction in or impairment of the value of fixed assets or intangible assets will
result in a charge against earnings, which could have an adverse impact on our reported results of operations and financial condition.
 
The effects of natural disasters, terrorism, acts of war, and public health issues may adversely affect our business.
Natural disasters, including earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, and tornadoes may affect store and distribution center operations. In addition, acts of terrorism, acts of war, and
military action both in the United States and abroad can have a significant effect on economic conditions and may negatively affect our ability to purchase merchandise from
suppliers for sale to our customers. Public health issues, such as flu or other pandemics, whether occurring in the United States or abroad, could disrupt our operations and result
in a significant part of our workforce being unable to operate or maintain our infrastructure or perform other tasks necessary to conduct our business. Additionally, public health
issues may disrupt, or have an adverse effect on, our suppliers’ operations, our operations, our customers, or customer demand. Our ability to mitigate the adverse effect of
these events depends, in part, upon the effectiveness of our disaster preparedness and response planning as well as business continuity planning. However, we cannot be certain
that our plans will be adequate or implemented properly in the event of an actual disaster. We may be required to suspend operations in some or all of our locations, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Any significant declines in public safety or uncertainties regarding future
economic prospects that affect customer spending habits could have a material adverse effect on customer purchases of our products.
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The terms of our asset-based revolving credit agreement impose certain restrictions on us that may impair our ability to respond to changing business and economic
conditions, which could have a significant adverse impact on our business.  Additionally, our business could suffer if our ability to acquire financing is reduced or
eliminated.
We maintain an asset-based revolving credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., which provides for a senior secured revolving credit facility (“ABL Facility”) of up to
$75 million. The ABL Facility contains various representations, warranties and restrictive covenants that, among other things and subject to specified circumstances and
exceptions, restrict our ability to incur indebtedness (including guarantees), grant liens, make investments, pay dividends or distributions with respect to capital stock, make
prepayments on other indebtedness, engage in mergers, dispose of certain assets or change the nature of their business. In addition, excess availability equal to at least 10% of
the loan cap must be maintained under the ABL Facility. The ABL Facility does not otherwise contain financial maintenance covenants. These restrictions could (1) limit our
ability to plan for or react to market conditions or meet capital needs or otherwise restrict our activities or business plans; and (2) adversely affect our ability to finance our
operations, strategic acquisitions, investments or other capital needs or to engage in other business activities that would be in our interest.
 
The ABL Facility includes customary events of default including non-payment of principal, interest or fees, violation of covenants, inaccuracy of representations or warranties,
cross-default to other material indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, invalidity or impairment of guarantees or security interests, material judgments and change of
control. Additionally, we cannot be assured that our borrowing relationship with our lenders will continue or that our lenders will remain able to support their commitments to
us in the future.  If our lenders fail to do so, then we may not be able to secure alternative financing on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
 
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock.
 
The Robert J. Higgins TWMC Trust (the “Trust”) owns approximately 39% of the outstanding Common Stock. Therefore, the trustees have significant influence
and control over the outcome of any vote of the Company’s Shareholders.
The Robert J. Higgins TWMC Trust owns approximately 39% of the outstanding Common Stock and there are no limitations on the Trust acquiring shares in the future.
Accordingly, the trustees have significant influence over the election of our directors, the appointment of new management and the approval of actions requiring shareholder
approval, such as adopting amendments to our articles of incorporation and approving mergers or sales of all or substantially all of our assets. Such concentration of ownership
and substantial voting influence may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, even if a change of control is in the best interest of all shareholders. There
may be instances in which the interest of the Trust may conflict or be perceived as being in conflict with the interest of a holder of our securities or the interest of the Company.
W. Michael Reickert, a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, is a trustee of the Trust.
 
The Company’s stock price has experienced and could continue to experience volatility and could decline, resulting in a substantial loss on your investment.
Our stock price has experienced, and could continue to experience in the future, substantial volatility as a result of many factors, including global economic conditions, broad
market fluctuations and public perception of the prospects for music and the home video industry. Changes in our comparable store net sales could also affect the price of our
Common Stock. Failure to meet market expectations, particularly with respect to comparable store sales, net revenues, operating margins and earnings per share, would likely
result in a further decline in the market price of our stock.
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If we do not meet the continued listing standards of the NASDAQ Global Market, our common stock could be delisted from trading, which could limit investors’
ability to make transactions in our common stock and subject us to additional trading restrictions.
Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market (“the NASDAQ”), which imposes continued listing requirements with respect to listed shares. On January 15,
2019, we received a letter from the NASDAQ stating that we are not in compliance with NASDAQ Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) because the closing bid price of our common stock
was below the required minimum of $1.00 per share for the previous 30 consecutive business days.  In accordance with NASDAQ Listing Rules, we have a period of 180
calendar days, or until July 15, 2019, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. If at any time before July 15, 2019 the closing bid price of our common
stock is at least $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, NASDAQ will provide us with written confirmation that we have regained compliance with the
minimum bid price requirement and this matter will be closed.   If we are unable to demonstrate compliance with Rule 5450(a)(1) by July 15, 2019, we can submit a request for
an additional 180-day period to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement.
 
There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement or that we will otherwise be in compliance with
other NASDAQ listing criteria. If we fail to regain and maintain compliance with the minimum bid requirement or to meet the other applicable continued listing requirements in
the future and NASDAQ determines to delist our common stock, the delisting could adversely affect the market price and liquidity of our common stock, reduce our ability to
raise additional capital.
 
The limited public float and trading volume for our Common Stock may have an adverse impact and cause significant fluctuation of market price.
Historically, ownership of a significant portion of our outstanding shares of Common Stock has been concentrated in a small number of stockholders. Consequently, our
Common Stock has a relatively small float and low average daily trading volume, which could affect a stockholder’s ability to sell our stock or the price at which it can be sold.
In addition, future sales of substantial amounts of our Common Stock in the public market by those larger stockholders, or the perception that these sales could occur, may
adversely impact the market price of the stock and our stock could be difficult for a stockholder to liquidate.
 
Item 1B. UNRESOLVED SEC COMMENTS
None.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES
 
Retail Stores
 
As of February 2, 2019, the fye segment leased and operated 210 stores some of which have renewal options. The majority of the leases provide for the payment of fixed
monthly rent and expenses for maintenance, property taxes and insurance, while others provide for the payment of monthly rent based on a percentage of sales. Certain leases
provide for additional rent based on store sales in excess of specified levels. The following table lists the leases due to expire in each of the fiscal years shown as of the fiscal
year-end, assuming any renewal options are not exercised:
 

Year  
No. of
Leases  Year  

No. of
Leases

       
2019 158  2023 4

       
2020 16  2024 1

       
2021 27  2025 and beyond 0

       
2022 4     

 
As leases expire, the Company will evaluate the decision to exercise renewal rights or obtain new leases for the same or similar locations based on store profitability.
 
Corporate Offices and Distribution Center Facilities
 
As of February 2, 2019, we leased the following office and distribution facilities:
 
  Square   Owned or   

Location  Footage   Leased  Use
fye         
Albany, NY   39,800  Leased  Office administration
Albany, NY   141,500  Leased  Distribution center
         
etailz         
Spokane, WA   27,800  Leased  Office administration
Spokane, WA   32,000  Leased  Distribution center
 
The Company believes that it has adequate distribution facilities to meet the Company’s current business needs. Shipments from the Albany distribution facility to the fye
segment’s retail stores provide approximately 82% of merchandise shipment requirements to stores. Stores are serviced by common carriers chosen on the basis of geography
and rate considerations. The balance of the stores’ merchandise requirements is satisfied through direct shipments from vendors. The Spokane, WA distribution center supports
the distribution to outside distribution facilities for sale on third-party marketplaces.
 
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally adjudicated. Although there can
be no assurance as to the ultimate disposition of these matters, it is management’s opinion, based upon the information available at this time, that
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the expected outcome of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the
Company.
 
Loyalty Memberships and Magazine Subscriptions Class Action
On November 14, 2018, three consumers filed a putative class action complaint against Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Synapse Group, Inc. in the United States
District Court for the District of Massachusetts Boston Division (Case No.1:18-cv-12377-DPW) concerning enrollment in the Company’s Backstage Pass VIP loyalty program
and associated magazine subscriptions. The complaint alleges, among other things, that the Company’s “negative option marketing” misled consumers into enrolling for
membership and subscriptions without obtaining the consumers’ consent. The complaint seeks statutory and actual damages.
 
The Company has filed a motion to dismiss the case which remains pending; however the court has already dismissed the plaintiffs’ only claim under federal law. The court has
not yet decided the rest of the motion, but has indicated its preliminary agreement with significant portions of that motion, including that the case should not be able to proceed
as a class action. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the plaintiffs’ claims and, if the court does not grant the Company’s motion to dismiss in full, the
Company intends to vigorously defend the action.

 
Store Manager Class Actions
There are two pending class actions. The first, Spack v. Trans World Entertainment Corp. was originally filed in the District of New Jersey, April 2017(the “Spack Action”).
The Spack Action alleges that Trans World misclassified Store Managers as exempt nationwide. It also alleges violations of New Jersey and Pennsylvania State Law with
respect to the Trans World’s use of the fluctuating workweek method to pay Senior Assistant Managers at stores located in those two states, and that managers and assistant
managers worked “off-the-clock.” The second, Roper v. Trans World Entertainment Corp., was filed in the Northern District of New York, May 2017 (the “Roper Action”). The
Roper Action also asserts a nationwide misclassification claim on behalf of Store Managers. Both actions were consolidated into the Northern District of New York, with the
Spack Action being the lead case.

 
Plaintiffs moved for conditional certification, June 2018 and partially granted in January 2019. The opt-in period for the collective that was certified closed on April 6, 2019.
Once the scope of the conditionally certified collective is known, opt-in discovery relating to that collective will commence. Company plans to move to decertify that collective.
The Company believes the case is without merit.
 
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 
None.
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PART II
Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY

SECURITIES
 
Market Information: The Company’s Common Stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “TWMC.” As of March 29, 2019, there were 278 shareholders
of record. The following table sets forth high and low last reported sale prices for each fiscal quarter during the period from January 30, 2017 through March 29, 2019.
 

  Closing Sales Prices  
       
   High   Low  
2017         
1st Quarter   $2.90    $1.65  
2nd Quarter   $1.90    $1.50  
3rd Quarter   $2.80    $1.55  
4th Quarter   $1.90    $1.60  
         
2018         
1st Quarter   $1.80    $1.00  
2nd Quarter   $1.35    $0.85  
3rd Quarter   $1.14    $0.65  
4th Quarter   $1.29    $0.57  
         
2019         
1st Quarter (through March 29, 2019)   $0.62    $0.39  

 
On March 29, 2019, the last trading date in March, the reported sale price on the Common Stock on the NASDAQ Global Market was $0.42.
 
Dividend Policy: The Company did not pay cash dividends in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. The declaration and payment of any dividends is at the sole discretion of the board of
directors and is not guaranteed. The Company’s amended credit facility contains certain restrictions related to the payment of cash dividends, including limiting the amount of
dividends to $5.0 million annually and not allowing borrowings under the amended facility for the six months before or six months after the dividend payment.
 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities during the Quarter Ended February 2, 2019
During the three month period ended February 2, 2019, the Company did not repurchase any shares under the share repurchase program.
 
The Company’s amended credit facility contains certain restrictions related to share repurchases, including limiting the amount of repurchases to $5.0 million annually and not
allowing borrowings under the amended facility for the six months before or six months after the share repurchase transaction.
 
Item 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
 
Not required under the requirements of a Smaller Reporting Company.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Overview
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations provide information that the Company’s management believes necessary to achieve
an understanding of its financial condition and results of operations. To the extent that such analysis contains statements which are not of a historical nature, such statements are
forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. These risks include, but are not limited to, changes in the competitive environment for the Company’s
merchandise, including the entry or exit of non-traditional retailers of the Company’s merchandise to or from its markets; releases by the music and video, industries of an
increased or decreased number of “hit releases”; general economic factors in markets where the Company’s merchandise is sold; and other factors including, but not limited to:
cost of goods, consumer disposable income, consumer debt levels and buying patterns, consumer credit availability, interest rates, customer preferences, unemployment, labor
costs, inflation, fuel and energy prices, weather patterns, climate change, catastrophic events, competitive pressures and insurance costs discussed in the Company’s filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
fye Segment
The U.S. entertainment retailing industry is a mature industry and continues to experience declines. Physical video and music represent 45% of sales and both categories have
been impacted by new distribution channels, including digital distribution and internet fulfillment. As a result, the Company has had negative comparable store sales on an
annual basis for the past five fiscal years. To mitigate or lessen the impact these changes have had, the Company has focused on the following areas in an effort to improve its
business:

 
Evolve the fye Brand Customer Experience.
 

The Company is evolving the fye brand experience by diversifying its merchandise assortment and enhancing its merchandise presentation as it continues its strategy towards
becoming the most compelling entertainment and pop culture centric engagement in the marketplace. In addition, the Company offers personalized customer service in its
stores guided by a commitment to approach every customer with gratitude, humility and respect.
 

Store Portfolio Evaluation
 
The Company’s real estate strategy is to maintain a core group of profitable locations, while evaluating opportunities for new locations in new and existing malls.
 
During fiscal year 2018 and fiscal year 2017, the Company closed 50 and 25 stores, respectively. The Company closes stores when minimum operating thresholds are not
achieved or upon lease expiration when either renewal is not available or management determines that renewal is not in the Company’s best interest. The Company has signed
short-term lease agreements for desirable locations, which enables us to negotiate rents that are responsive to the then-current sales environment. The Company has 158 stores
with leases expiring during fiscal 2019. We will continue to close stores that do not meet our profitability goals, a process which could result in further asset impairments and
store closure costs. A continued reduction in the number of stores would lower total sales.
 
The Company believes that there is near-term opportunity for improving the productivity of existing stores. The environment in which our stores operate is intensely
competitive and includes internet-based retailers and mass merchants. We believe a specialty retailer that can differentiate itself by offering a distinctive assortment and
customer experience, and that can operate efficiently, will be better positioned to maintain its market share.
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Therefore, we remain dedicated to enhancing our merchandise assortment through introducing additional product lines, improving the operational efficiency of our stores and
offering our customers a rewarding shopping experience guided by an approach to engage every customer with gratitude, humility and respect.

 
Expanding Customer Base

 
To strengthen customer loyalty, the fye stores offer its customers the option of signing up for a Backstage Pass card which provides an additional 10% discount off of everyday
selling prices on nearly all products in addition to other value added benefits members receive through the program in exchange for a membership fee. The Company also hosts
events to provide various segments of customers an opportunity to experience entertainment and shop for unique and exclusive products based on their particular interests. 
 
etailz Segment
On October 17, 2016, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of etailz, Inc., an innovative and leading digital marketplace retail expert. etailz uses
a data driven approach to digital marketplace retailing utilizing proprietary software and e-commerce insight coupled with a direct customer relationship engagement to identify
new distributors and wholesalers, isolate emerging product trends, and optimize price positioning and inventory purchase decisions.
 
During fiscal 2018, in response to the general decline in operating results, management implemented certain strategic initiatives, operational efficiencies and other
considerations directed towards improving the segment’s performance, operations, and cash flow:
 
Vendor Rationalization and Remediation

Using a profit driven approach, management determined there was an opportunity to rationalize and remediate its vendor portfolio to improve profitability, streamline core
operations and improve efficiencies. Rationalization and remediation activities included terminating unprofitable vendors and improving vendor relationships through
negotiations focused on improvements to gross margins and supply chain efficiencies.
 

SG&A Rationalization
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, etailz implemented certain strategic initiatives in order to create operation efficiencies directed towards improving the etailz
segment’s performance, operations, and cash flow to support the ongoing operating model changes and to create a leaner organization that is better aligned with current and
future business focus. As part of the initiatives, a 30% reduction in force was implemented during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018. Additional reductions implemented
included expenses related to technology, hardware, and employee benefits.
 

Working Capital Optimization
etailz is in the process of implementing strategies that will enhance sales, improve inventory turns and decrease Amazon storage fees.

 
Key Performance Indicators
 
Management monitors a number of key performance indicators to evaluate its performance, including:
 
Net Sales and Comparable Store Net Sales: The fye segment measures the rate of comparable store net sales change. A store is included in comparable store net sales
calculations at the beginning of its thirteenth full month of operation. Stores relocated, expanded or downsized are excluded from comparable store sales if the change in square
footage is greater than 20% until the thirteenth full month following relocation, expansion or
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downsizing. Closed stores that were open for at least thirteen months are included in comparable store sales through the month immediately preceding the month of closing. The
fye segment further analyzes net sales by store format and by product category. The etailz segment measures total year over year sales growth by product category.
 
Cost of Sales and Gross Profit: Gross profit is calculated based on the cost of product in relation to its retail selling value. Changes in gross profit are impacted primarily by
net sales levels, mix of products sold, vendor discounts and allowances, shrinkage, obsolescence and distribution costs. Distribution expenses include those costs associated with
receiving, inspecting & warehousing merchandise, Amazon fulfillment fees, and costs associated with product returns to vendors.
 
Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses: Included in SG&A expenses are payroll and related costs, occupancy charges, general operating and overhead
expenses and depreciation charges. SG&A expenses also include fixed assets write-offs associated with store closures, if any, and miscellaneous income and expense items,
other than interest.
 
Balance Sheet and Ratios: The Company views cash, merchandise inventory, merchandise inventory per square foot, inventory leverage, accounts payable leverage, and
working capital as key indicators of its financial position. See Liquidity and Capital Resources for further discussion of these items.
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Fiscal Year Ended February 2, 2019 (“fiscal 2018”)
Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 2, 2018 (“fiscal 2017”)

 
The Company’s fiscal year is a 52 or 53-week period ending the Saturday nearest to January 31. Fiscal 2018, and 2017 ended February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018,
respectively. Fiscal 2018 had 52 weeks and fiscal 2017 had 53 weeks. The 53rd week in fiscal 2017 contributed approximately 1% to net sales.
 
Segment Highlights:
 

(amounts in thousands)    

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

February 2, 2019   

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

February 3, 2018  
Total Revenue           

fye    $ 231,290  $ 268,397 
etailz     186,900   174,459 

Total Company    $ 418,190  $ 442,856 
           
Gross Profit           

fye    $ 89,259  $ 104,254 
etailz     38,815   39,589 

Total Company    $ 128,074  $ 143,843 
           
Loss From Operations           

fye    $ (24,455)  $ (49,261)
etailz     (72,351)   (2,140)

Total Company    $ (96,806)  $ (51,401)
           
Reconciliation of fye Loss From Operations to fye Adjusted Loss From Operations
fye Loss From Operations    $ (24,455)  $ (49,261)
Asset impairment charges     1,946   29,107 
fye Adjusted Loss From Operations  (1) $ (22,509)  $ (20,154)
           
Reconciliation of etailz Loss From Operations to etailz Adjusted (Loss) Income From Operations
etailz Loss From Operations    $ (72,351)  $ (2,140)
Acquisition related intangible amortization expenses     3,890   3,871 
Acquisition related compensation expenses, net of contingency benefit of $3 million in fiscal 2017     3,821   982 
Asset impairment charges     57,712   — 
etailz Adjusted (Loss) Income From Operations  (1) $ (6,928)  $ 2,713 

 
(1) In addition to the results of operations determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), we reported non-GAAP

adjusted operating income (loss) as shown above. The Company believes that adjusted (loss) income from operations as per the segment disclosure, when considered
together with its GAAP financial results, provides management and investors with a more complete understanding of its business operating results, including underlying
trends, by excluding the effects of certain charges. This measure is not a recognized measure of financial performance under GAAP, and should not be considered as a
substitute for operating earnings (losses), net earnings (loss) from continuing operations or cash flows from operating activities, as determined in accordance with GAAP.
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Total Revenue. The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s total revenue:
 
          2018 vs 2017  
    2018   2017   $   %  
(amounts in thousands)               
fye net sales    $ 226,097  $ 262,714  $ (36,617)   (13.9%)
etailz net sales     186,900   174,459   12,441   7.1%
Other revenue  (1)  5,193   5,683   (490)   (8.6%)
Total revenue    $ 418,190  $ 442,856  $ (24,666)   (5.6%)
 

1. Other revenue is comprised of third-party commission income and management fees related to the fye segment.
 

Total revenue decreased 5.6% to $418.2 million compared to $442.9 million in fiscal 2017.

fye Segment
The 13.9% net sales decline from the prior year is primarily due to an 11.1% decline in average stores in operation and a 2.0% decline in comparable store net sales. Stores
closed in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 recorded sales of $26.5 million and $14.9 million, respectively. Total product units sold for fiscal 2018 decreased 18.5% while the average
retail price for units sold increased 3.3%.
 
Net fye sales by merchandise category for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 were as follows:
 

(amounts in thousands)  
2018

Net Sales   
%

Total   
2017

Net Sales   
% 

Total   

Total $
Net Sales
Change   

Total % 
Net Sales
Change   

Comparable 
Store % Net 
Sales Change 

                             
Trend/Lifestyle  $ 93,830   41.5% $ 98,019   37.3% $ (4,189)   (4.3%)  5.1%
Video   62,403   27.6%  81,261   30.9%  (18,858)   (23.2%)  (8.8%)
Music   39,793   17.6%  50,691   19.3%  (10,898)   (21.5%)  (8.6%)
Electronics   30,071   13.3%  32,743   12.5%  (2,672)   (8.2%)  5.0%

Total  $ 226,097   100.0% $ 262,714   100.0% $ (36,617)   (13.9%)  (2.0%)
 
Trend/lifestyle
fye stores offer a selection of trend/lifestyle products that primarily relate to theatrical releases, music, and gaming. The trend/lifestyle category increased 5.1% on a comparable
store sales basis in fiscal 2018 and represented 41.5% of the Company’s total net sales in fiscal 2018 versus 37.3% in fiscal 2017. The Company continues to take advantage of
opportunities to strengthen its selection and shift product mix to growing categories of entertainment-related merchandise. The Company grew sales in this category by
strengthening its assortment of consumables and collectables, as well as by improving the product presentation and value proposition.
 
Video
fye stores offer a wide range of new and used DVDs, Blu-rays, and 4Ks in all of its stores. Total net sales for the video category declined 8.8% on a comparable store sales basis
in fiscal 2018. Video sales were negatively impacted by industry wide declines in physical video due to digital options. According to the Industry Dashboard, during the period
equivalent to the Company’s fiscal 2018, total industry video sales declined 12.8%.
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Music
fye stores offer a wide range of new and used CDs, music DVDs and vinyl across most music genres, including new releases from current artists as well as an extensive catalog
of music from past periods and artists. Total net sales in the music category declined 8.6% on a comparable store sale basis in fiscal 2018.
 
Electronics
fye stores offer a selection of complementary portable electronics and accessories to support our entertainment products. The electronics category increased 5.0% on a
comparable store sales basis. Electronics represented 13.3% of the Company’s total net sales in fiscal 2018 versus 12.5% in fiscal 2017.
 
etailz Segment
etailz recorded sales of $186.9 million for fiscal 2018 compared to $174.5 million for fiscal 2017. etailz generates revenue across a broad array of product lines primarily
through the Amazon Marketplace. Categories include: apparel, baby, beauty, electronics, health & personal care, home/kitchen/grocery, pets, sporting goods, toys & art.
 
Gross Profit. The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s gross profit:
 
        2018 vs 2017  
(amounts in thousands)  2018   2017   $   %  
             
fye gross profit  $ 89,259  $ 104,254  $ (14,995)   (14.4%)
etailz gross profit   38,815   39,589   (774)   (2.0%)
Total gross profit  $ 128,074  $ 143,843  $ (15,769)   (11.0%)
                 
fye gross profit as a % of fye revenue   38.6%  38.8%        
etailz gross profit as a % of etailz revenue   20.8%  22.7%        
Total gross profit as a % of total revenue   30.6%  32.5%        
 
Gross profit decreased 11.0% to $128.1 million compared to $143.9 million in fiscal 2017 primarily due to the closure of 50 stores.
 
fye Segment
Gross profit as a percentage of sales was 38.6% in fiscal 2018 as compared to 38.8% in fiscal 2017. The slight decline in rate was due to higher inventory markdowns to sell off
seasonal and slow moving merchandise and liquidation sales for closed stores.

etailz Segment
etailz gross profit as a percentage of revenue was 20.8% in fiscal 2018 as compared to 22.7% in fiscal 2017. The decline in the gross profit rate was primarily due to higher
marketplace fulfillment and warehousing fees.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.
The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s SG&A expenses:
 
(amounts in thousands)        2018 vs. 2017  
  2018   2017   $   %  
             
fye SG&A before depreciation and amortization  $ 107,141  $ 114,982  $ (7,841)   -6.8%
As a % of total fye revenue   46.3%  42.8%      3.5%
                 
etailz SG&A before depreciation and amortization   48,965   39,446   9,519   24.1%
As a % of total etailz revenue   26.2%  22.6%      3.6%
                 
Depreciation and amortization   9,116   13,496   (4,380)   -32.5%
                 
Total SG&A  $ 165,222  $ 167,924  $ (2,702)   -1.6%
                 
As a % of total revenue   39.5%   37.9%         
 
Total SG&A expenses decreased $2.7 million.
 
fye Segment
SG&A, excluding depreciation and amortization, decreased $7.8 million, or 6.8%, primarily as a result of lower expenses due to fewer stores in operation. The increase in the
rate as a percentage of fye revenue was primarily due to the comparable sales decline and increased corporate home office expenses to support strategic growth initiatives.
 
etailz Segment
etailz SG&A, excluding depreciation and amortization, expenses increased $9.5 million, or 24.1%, primarily as a result of investments in product identification and sourcing,
technology, and platform diversification, in addition to an increase in marketplace commissions as a result of higher sales.
 
Depreciation and amortization expense. Consolidated depreciation and amortization expense decreased $4.4 million primarily due to the $29.1 million net decrease in
carrying value of fixed assets, resulting from impairment charges recorded for the fye segment, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017.
 
Asset Impairment Charges
 
fye Segment
During fiscal 2018, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses within the fye segment driven by lower than expected fourth quarter sales that a triggering
event had occurred, and pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, an
evaluation of the fye fixed assets for impairment was required. Fixed assets, primarily at the Company’s retail store locations, as well as certain fixed assets at the corporate
location, consisting of the home office and the Albany distribution center, where impairment was determined to exist were written down to their estimated fair values as of the
end of fiscal 2018, resulting in the recording of asset impairment charges of $1.9 million. Estimated fair values for fixed assets at these locations, including store fixtures,
equipment, and leasehold improvements were determined based on a measure of discounted future cash flows over the remaining lease terms at the respective locations. Future
cash flows were estimated based on individual store and corporate level plans and were discounted at a rate approximating the Company’s cost of capital. Management believes
its assumptions were reasonable and consistently applied.
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During fiscal 2017, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses within the fye segment driven by lower than expected fourth quarter sales that a triggering
event had occurred, and pursuant to FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, an evaluation of the fye fixed assets for impairment was required. Fixed assets, primarily
at the Company’s retail store locations, as well as certain fixed assets at the corporate location, consisting of the home office and the Albany distribution center, where
impairment was determined to exist were written down to their estimated fair values as of the end of fiscal 2017, resulting in the recording of asset impairment charges of $29.1
million. Estimated fair values for fixed assets at these locations, including store fixtures, equipment, and leasehold improvements were determined based on a measure of
discounted future cash flows over the remaining lease terms at the respective locations. Future cash flows were estimated based on individual store and corporate level plans and
were discounted at a rate approximating the Company’s cost of capital. Management believes its assumptions were reasonable and consistently applied.
 
etailz Segment
During fiscal 2018, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses for the etailz segment driven by lower than expected operating results culminating in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 that a triggering event had occurred, and pursuant to FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, an evaluation of the etailz fixed assets and
intangible assets for impairment was required. Fixed assets related to internally developed technology at etailz were written down to their estimated fair values at the end of
fiscal 2018, resulting in the recognition of asset impairment charges of $2.1 million. Intangible assets related to technology and vendor relationships were written down to their
estimated fair values at the end of fiscal 2018 resulting in the recognition of asset impairment charges of $16.4 million.
 
As a result of the annual impairment review pursuant to FASB ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, the Company performed its impairment test over goodwill. Based
on the Company’s annual impairment test, it was determined that the goodwill balance was fully impaired, and the Company recognized an impairment loss of $39.2 million.
 
Interest Expense. Interest expense in fiscal 2018 was $0.7 million, compared to $0.3 million in fiscal 2017.
 
Other Income. Other income was $0.2 million in fiscal 2018 compared to $8.9 million in fiscal 2017. Other income for fiscal 2018 was comprised of interest income earned on
escrow accounts. Other income for fiscal 2017 consisted primarily of a gain on insurance proceeds related to the death of the Company’s former Chairman.
 
Income Tax Expense. The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s income tax expense:
 
(amounts in thousands)        2018 vs 2017  
  2018   2017   $  
             
Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 80  $ (299)  $ 379 
             
Effective tax rate   (0.1%)  0.7%    
 
The fiscal 2018 income tax expense includes state taxes, adjustments to the reserve for uncertain tax positions, and the accrual of interest. The fiscal 2017 income tax benefit of
the alternative minimum tax credit receivable is partially offset by state taxes, adjustments to the reserve for uncertain tax positions, and the accrual of interest.
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Net Loss. The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s net loss:
 
(amounts in thousands)        2018 vs 2017  
  2018   2017   $  
             
Net loss  $ (97,382)  $ (42,553)  $ (54,829)
             
Net loss as a percentage of total revenue   (23.3%)  (9.6%)    
 
Net loss was $97.4 million for fiscal 2018, compared to $42.6 million for fiscal 2017. Included in the results for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 are non-cash charges of $59.7
million and $29.1 million, respectively, as a result of recording impairment against certain fixed assets in the fye segment and impairment against fixed assets, intangible assets,
and goodwill in the etailz segment. The increase in net loss was primarily due to an increase in asset impairment charges, combined with the decline in fye sales and an overall
lower gross profit rate.
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
Liquidity and Cash Flows:
The Company’s primary sources of liquidity are borrowing capacity under its revolving credit facility, available cash and cash equivalents, and to a lesser extent, cash generated
from operations. Our cash requirements relate primarily to working capital needed to operate and grow our business, including funding operating expenses, the purchase of
inventory and capital expenditures. Our ability to achieve profitability and meet future liquidity needs and capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including
the timing and amount of our revenue; the timing and amount of our operating expenses; the timing and costs of working capital needs; and changes in our strategy or our
planned activities.
 
The Company incurred net losses of $97.4 million and $42.6 million for the years ended February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, respectively, and has an accumulated deficit of
$50.2 million at February 2, 2019. In addition, net cash used in operating activities for the year ended February 2, 2019 was $25.5 million.

 
A noted above, the Company experienced negative cash flows from operations during fiscal 2018 and 2017 and we expect to continue to incur net losses in the foreseeable
future. We implemented strategic initiatives on December 11, 2018, aimed at improving organizational efficiency and conserving working capital needed to support the growth
of our etailz segment. As a result of the initiative, we expect that annual expenses will be reduced by $4.0 to $5.0 million.

 
At February 2, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $4.4 million, net working capital of $65.9 million, and no outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility, as
further discussed below. This compares to $31.3 million in cash and cash equivalents and net working capital of $92.8 million at February 3, 2018. We anticipate an
improvement in cash flows from operations for fiscal 2019.
 
In January 2017, the Company amended and restated its revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility provides for commitments of $50 million subject to
increase up to $75 million during the months of October to December of each year, as needed. The availability under the Credit Facility is subject to limitations based on
receivables and inventory levels. The principal amount of all outstanding loans under the Credit Facility together with any accrued but unpaid interest, are due and payable in
January 2022, unless otherwise paid earlier pursuant to the terms of the Credit Facility. Payments of amounts due under the Credit Facility are secured by the assets of the
Company. During fiscal 2018, the Company exercised the right to increase its
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availability to $60 million subject to the same limitations noted above. The Company had $30 million available for borrowing under the Credit Facility as of February 2, 2019.
 
Interest under the Credit Facility will accrue, at the election of the Company, at a Base Rate or LIBO Rate, plus, in each case, an Applicable Margin, which is determined by
reference to the level of availability, with the Applicable Margin for LIBO Rate loans ranging from 1.75% to 2.00% and the Applicable Margin for Prime Rate loans ranging
from 0.75% to 1.00%. In addition, a commitment fee of 0.25% is also payable on unused commitments.
 
As of February 2, 2019 and as of February 3, 2018, the Company did not have any borrowings under the Credit Facility. Peak borrowings under the Credit Facility during fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017 were $35.7 million and $11.7 million, respectively. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company had no outstanding letters of credit. The
Company had $30 million and $41 million available for borrowing under the Credit Facility as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, respectively.
 
The Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including restrictions on dividends and share repurchases, incurrence of additional indebtedness and
acquisitions and covenants around the net number of store closings and restrictions related to the payment of cash dividends and share repurchases, including limiting the
amount of dividends to $5 million annually, and not allowing borrowings under the amended facility for the six months before or six months after the dividend payment. On
October 29, 2018, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Wells Fargo in accordance with the Credit Facility in which Wells Fargo provided consent to the Company
exceeding the permitted number of store closures and related inventory dispositions.
 
The Credit Facility also includes customary events of default, including, among other things, material adverse effect, bankruptcy, and certain changes of control. As of February
2, 2019, the Company was compliant with all covenants. On May 3, 2019, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Wells Fargo in accordance with the Credit Facility
in which Wells Fargo provided consent to the Company with respect to late delivery of the Annual Financial Statements.
 
In addition to the aforementioned current sources of existing working capital, the Company may explore certain other strategic alternatives that may become available to the
Company, as well continuing our efforts to generate additional sales and increase margins. However, at this time the Company has no commitments to obtain any additional
funds, and there can be no assurance such funds will be available on acceptable terms or at all, should we require such additional funds. If the Company is unable to improve its
operations, it may be required to obtain additional funding, and the Company’s financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

 
Furthermore, broad market and industry factors may seriously harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance, and may adversely impact
our ability to raise additional funds, should we require such additional funds. Similarly, if our common stock is delisted from the NASDAQ Global Market, it may also limit our
ability to raise additional funds.

 
The consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2019 were prepared on the basis of a going concern which contemplates that the Company will be
able to realize assets and discharge liabilities in the normal course of business. The ability of the Company to meet its liabilities and to continue as a going concern is dependent
on improved profitability, the performance improvement plan implemented for the etailz segment and the availability of future funding. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.
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The following table sets forth a two-year summary of key components of cash flow and working capital:
 

  (amounts in thousands)    2018   2017   
2018 vs.

2017  
  Operating Cash Flows   $ (25,518)  $ (13)  $ (25,505)
  Investing Cash Flows    (2,342)   4,482   (6,824)
  Financing Cash Flows    (1,420)   (5,040)   3,620 
                 
  Capital Expenditures    (3,689)   (8,407)   4,718 
                 
  End of Period Balances:              
  Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash (1)   14,226   43,506   (29,280)
  Merchandise Inventory    94,842   109,112   (14,270)
  Merchandise Inventory Per Square Foot - fye    59.8   59.9   (0.1)
  Accounts Payable leverage-fye    41.0   44.0   (3.0)
  Working Capital    65,947   92,827   (26,880)
  Inventory turns - fye    1.6   1.5   0.1 

(1) Cash and cash equivalents per Consolidated Balance Sheets    $ 4,355  $ 31,326     
  Add: Restricted cash     9,871   12,180     
  Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash    $ 14,226  $ 43,506     

 
During fiscal 2018, cash used in operations was $25.5 million, primarily due to a net loss of $97.4 million, adding back depreciation and amortization of $9.1 million, a loss on
impairment of goodwill and long lived assets of $59.7 million, non-cash compensation of $3.0 million, and a decrease in merchandise inventory of $14.5 million, less an
increase in accounts receivable of $0.9 million, the reduction in accounts payable of $7.5 million, the reduction of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $1.1 million,
and the reduction in deferred revenue and other long-term liabilities of $1.5 million and $4.0 million, respectively. During fiscal 2017, cash used in operations was $13 thousand
primarily due to a net loss of $42.6 million, adding back depreciation and amortization of $14.1 million, a loss due to fixed assets impairment of $29.1 million, non-cash
compensation of $3.1 million, decrease in merchandise inventory of $16.9 million, and a decrease in accounts receivable and other current assets of $3.9 million, less the
adjustment to the contingent consideration liability of $3.3 million, the gain on insurance proceeds of $8.7 million, and reductions in accounts payable and deferred revenue of
$10.5 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
 
The Company monitors various statistics to measure its management of inventory, including inventory turnover (annual cost of sales divided by average merchandise inventory
balances), inventory investment per square foot (merchandise inventory divided by total store square footage) and inventory leverage (accounts payable divided by merchandise
inventory). Inventory turnover measures the Company’s ability to sell merchandise and how many times it is replaced in a year. This ratio is important in determining the need
for markdowns and planning future inventory levels and assessing customer response to our merchandise. For the fye segment, inventory turnover in fiscal 2018 and in fiscal
2017 was 1.6 and 1.5, respectively. For the etailz segment, inventory turnover in fiscal 2018 and in fiscal 2017 was 5.2 and 5.3, respectively. Inventory investment per square
foot measures the productivity of the inventory. It is important in determining if the Company has the appropriate level of inventory to meet customer demands while
controlling its investment in inventory. Inventory investment per square foot in the fye segment was $60 per square foot at the end of fiscal 2018, same level as at the end of
fiscal 2017. Accounts payable leverage measures the percentage of inventory being funded by the Company’s product vendors. The percentage is important in determining the
Company’s ability to fund its business. Accounts payable leverage on inventory for the fye segment was 41.0% as of
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February 2, 2019 compared with 44.0% as of February 3, 2018. Accounts payable leverage on inventory for the etailz segment was 22.7% as of February 2, 2019 compared with
16.6% as of February 3, 2018.
 
Cash used in investing activities was $2.3 million in fiscal 2018, compared to cash flows provided by investing activities of $4.5 million in fiscal 2017. During fiscal 2018, cash
used in investing activities consisted of $1.4 million in capital distributions received from the joint venture, less $3.7 million in capital expenditures. During fiscal 2017, cash
provided by investing activities consisted of Company owned life insurance proceeds of $14.4 million, and $1.1 million in capital distributions received from the joint venture,
less $8.4 million in capital expenditures, and a $2.6 million investment in a joint venture.
 
The Company has historically financed its capital expenditures through borrowings under its revolving credit facility and cash flow from operations. The Company anticipates
capital spending of approximately $3 million in fiscal 2019, as the Company has made the majority of its planned capital investments.
 
Cash used in financing activities was $1.4 million in fiscal 2018, compared to $5.0 million in fiscal 2017. In fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, cash used in financing activities was
primarily comprised of $1.5 million and $5.0 million payments, respectively, paid to the etailz shareholders in connection with the share purchase agreement signed during the
acquisition of etailz during fiscal 2016.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Item 303 (a) (4) of Regulation S-K.
 
Related Party Transactions.
The Company leases its 181,300 square foot distribution center/office facility in Albany, New York from an entity controlled by the estate of Robert J. Higgins, its former
Chairman and largest shareholder. The distribution center/office lease commenced on January 1, 2016, and expires on December 31, 2020. Under the lease accounted for as an
operating lease, the Company paid $1.2 million in both fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. Under the terms of the lease agreement, the Company is responsible for property taxes and
other operating costs with respect to the premises.
 
Sara Neblett, the wife of Josh Neblett, former CEO of etailz, was employed with the Company as the Vice President of Partner Care of etailz until January 2019. During fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017, Ms. Neblett received $169,125 and $165,250, respectively, in regular cash compensation. In addition, during fiscal 2018, Ms. Neblett received
approximately $1.0 million under the terms of the etailz acquisition agreement.
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
 
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires that management apply
accounting policies and make estimates and assumptions that affect results of operations and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements.
Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this report includes a summary of the
significant accounting policies and methods used by the Company in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. Management believes that of the Company’s
significant accounting policies and estimates, the following involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity:
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Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Merchandise inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value under the average cost method. The average cost
method attaches a cost to each item and is a blended average of the original purchase price and those of subsequent purchases or other cost adjustments throughout the life cycle
of that item.
 
Inventory valuation requires significant judgment and estimates, including obsolescence, shrink and any adjustments to net realizable value; if net realizable value is lower than
cost. Inherent in the entertainment products industry is the risk of obsolete inventory. Typically, newer media releases generate a higher product demand. Some media vendors
offer credits to reduce the cost of products that are selling more slowly, thus allowing for a reduction in the selling price and reducing the possibility for items to become
obsolete. For all merchandise categories, the Company records obsolescence and any adjustments to net realizable value (if lower than cost) based on current and anticipated
demand, customer preferences, and market conditions. The provision for inventory shrink is estimated as a percentage of sales for the period from the last date a physical
inventory was performed to the end of the fiscal year. Such estimates are based on historical results and trends and the shrink results from the last physical inventory. Physical
inventories are taken at least annually for all stores and the distribution center throughout the year and inventory records are adjusted accordingly.
 
Shrink expense, including obsolescence was $3.4 million and $5.4 million in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. As a rate to net sales, this equaled 0.8% and 1.2% for
fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.  
 
The Company is generally entitled to return merchandise purchased from major music and video vendors for credit against other purchases from these vendors. Certain vendors
reduce the credit with a per unit merchandise return charge which varies depending on the type of merchandise being returned. Certain other vendors charge a handling fee
based on units returned. The Company records merchandise return charges in cost of sales. The Company incurred merchandise return charges of $0.4 million in both fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017.
 
Goodwill: Our goodwill resulted from our acquisition of etailz and represented the excess purchase price over the net identifiable assets acquired. All of our goodwill is
associated with etailz, a separate reporting unit, and there is no goodwill associated with our other reporting unit, fye. Goodwill is not amortized and we are required to evaluate
goodwill for impairment at least annually or whenever indicators of impairment are present. Our annual test is completed at the end of the fourth fiscal quarter, and interim tests
are conducted when circumstances indicate the carrying value of the goodwill may not be recoverable. 
 
Estimating the fair value of reporting units requires the use of estimates and significant judgments that are based on a number of factors including actual operating results. It is
possible that these judgments and estimates could change in future periods.
 
As a result of the annual impairment review pursuant to FASB ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, the Company performed its impairment test over goodwill. Based
on the Company’s annual impairment test, it was determined that the goodwill balance was fully impaired, and the Company recognized an impairment loss of $39.2 million.
 
Long Lived Assets other than Goodwill: Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset over its remaining useful life. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Fair value is generally measured based on discounted estimated future
cash flows. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less
disposition costs. For the purpose of the asset impairment test, the fye segment has two asset groupings – corporate and
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store level assets. For the purposes of the asset impairment test, the etailz segment has one asset grouping, which is the same as the etailz reporting unit level.
 
During fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses within the fye segment driven by lower than expected fourth quarter sales that
triggering events had occurred in each respective fiscal year, and pursuant to FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, an evaluation of the fye fixed assets for
impairment was required. Fixed assets primarily at the Company’s retail store locations, as well as certain fixed assets at the corporate location, consisting of the home office
and the Albany distribution center, where impairment was determined to exist were written down to their estimated fair values as of the end of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017,
resulting in the recording of asset impairment charges of $1.9 million and $29.1 million, respectively. Estimated fair values for fixed assets at these locations, including store
fixtures, equipment, and leasehold improvements were determined based on a measure of discounted future cash flows over the remaining lease terms at the respective
locations. Future cash flows were estimated based on individual store and corporate level plans and were discounted at a rate approximating the Company’s cost of capital.
Management believes its assumptions were reasonable and consistently applied.
 
During fiscal 2018, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses for the etailz segment driven by lower than expected operating results culminating in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 that a triggering event had occurred, and pursuant to FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, an evaluation of the etailz fixed assets and
intangible assets for impairment was required. Fixed assets related to internally developed technology at etailz were written down to their estimated fair values at the end of
fiscal 2018, resulting in the recognition of asset impairment charges of $2.1 million. Intangible assets related to technology and vendor relationships were written down to their
estimated fair values at the end of fiscal 2018 resulting in the recognition of asset impairment charges of $16.4 million.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements.
 
The information set forth above may be found under Notes to Consolidated Statements, Note 2, which is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
Not required under the requirements of a Smaller Reporting Company.
 
Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 
The index to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements is included in Item 15, and the Consolidated Financial Statements follow the signature page to this report and
are incorporated herein by reference.
 
The quarterly results of operations are included herein in Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this report.
 
Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 
None.
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Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures: Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined
under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and
our principal financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and
as of the end of the period covered by this annual report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit, under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure and reported within the time period specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer.
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d – 15(f) under the Exchange Act, as amended). Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management,
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on
the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on
our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013), our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of February 2, 2019.
 
Changes in Controls and Procedures: As of February 2, 2019, there have been no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during
fiscal 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
 
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
 
No events have occurred which would require disclosure under this Item.
 
PART III
 
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be included in the Proxy Statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC on or about May 28, 2019, which information is incorporated by reference.
 
Code of Ethics
 
We have adopted the Trans World Entertainment Corporation Code of Ethics that applies to all officers, directors, employees and consultants of the Company. The Code of
Ethics is intended to comply with Item 406 of Regulation S-K of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and with applicable rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. Our Code
of Ethics is posted on our Internet website under the “Corporate” page. Our Internet
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website address is www.twec.com. To the extent required by the rules of the SEC and NASDAQ, we will disclose amendments and waivers relating to our Code of Ethics in the
same place on our website.
 
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC
on or about May 28, 2019, which information is incorporated by reference.
 
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
 
Certain information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be included in the Proxy Statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC on or about May 28, 2019, which information is incorporated by reference.
 
The following table contains information about the Company’s Common Stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under all of the Company’s
equity compensation plans as of February 2, 2019:
 

Plan Category  

Number of Shares to be
Issued upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights(1)  

Weighted Average Exercise
Price of Outstanding

Options, Warrants and
Rights  

Number of Shares
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under

Equity Compensation Plans
(Excluding Outstanding
Options, Warrants and

Rights)
Equity Compensation Plan Approved by

Shareholders
 

3,049,825  $2.65  1,940,289
Equity Compensation Plans and Agreements not

Approved by Shareholders
 

—  —  —
 
(1) Includes 271,411 deferred shares which may be issued for no consideration.
 
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
 
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be included in the Proxy Statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC on or about May 28, 2019, which information is incorporated by reference.
 
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC
on or about May 28, 2019, which information is incorporated by reference.
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PART IV
 
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 
15(a) (1) Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes are listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this report.
 
15(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules
Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules not filed herein have been omitted as they are not applicable or the required information or equivalent information has been
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the notes thereto.
 
15(a) (3) Exhibits
Exhibits are as set forth in the “Index to Exhibits” which follows the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and immediately precedes the exhibits filed.
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
   
Date: May 14, 2019  By: /s/ Michael Feurer
  Michael Feurer

Chief Executive Officer
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.
 
Name  Title  Date
     
/s/ Michael Feurer  Chief Executive Officer and Director   
(Michael Feurer)  (Principal Executive Officer)  May 14, 2019
     
/s/ Edwin Sapienza  Chief Financial Officer   
(Edwin Sapienza)  (Principal Financial and Chief Accounting Officer)  May 14, 2019
     
/s/ Martin Hanaka  Director  May 14, 2019
(Martin Hanaka)     
     
/s/Robert Marks  Director  May 14, 2019
(Robert Marks)     
     
/s/ Michael Nahl  Director  May 14, 2019
(Michael Nahl)     
     
/s/ Michael Reickert  Director  May 14, 2019
(Michael Reickert)     
     
/s/ Michael B.  Solow  Director  May 14, 2019
(Michael B. Solow)     
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 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of February 2,
2019 and February 3, 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the fiscal
years in the two-year period ended February 2, 2019, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the two-year period ended February 2, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1994.

Albany, New York
May 14, 2019
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except per share and share amounts)
 

  
February 2,

2019   
February 3,

2018  
ASSETS         
CURRENT ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4,355  $ 31,326 
Restricted cash   4,126   1,505 
Accounts receivable   5,383   4,469 
Merchandise inventory   94,842   109,112 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   6,657   6,976 

Total current assets   115,363   153,388 
         

Restricted cash   5,745   10,675 
Fixed assets, net   7,529   13,546 
Goodwill   —   39,191 
Intangible assets, net   3,668   23,967 
Other assets   5,708   7,139 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 138,013  $ 247,906 
         
LIABILITIES         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Accounts payable  $ 34,329  $ 41,780 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   8,132   10,846 
Deferred revenue   6,955   7,935 

Total current liabilities   49,416   60,561 
         

Other long-term liabilities   24,867   29,131 
TOTAL LIABILITIES   74,283   89,692 

         
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
Preferred stock ($0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued)   —   — 
Common stock ($0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 64,436,671 shares and 64,305,171 shares issued,

respectively)   644   643 
Additional paid-in capital   344,214   341,103 
Treasury stock at cost (28,177,832 and 28,156,601 shares, respectively)   (230,166)   (230,145)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (735)   (998)
(Accumulated deficit) Retained earnings   (50,227)   47,611 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   63,730   158,214 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 138,013  $ 247,906 

 
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share and share amounts)
 

  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
February 2,

2019   
February 3,

2018  
         
Net sales  $ 412,997  $ 437,173 
Other revenue   5,193   5,683 

Total revenue   418,190   442,856 
         
Cost of sales   290,116   299,013 
Gross profit   128,074   143,843 
         
Selling, general and administrative expenses   165,222   167,924 
Income from joint venture   —   (1,787)
Asset impairment charges   59,658   29,107 
Loss from operations   (96,806)   (51,401)
Interest expense   723   332 
Other income   (227)   (8,881)

Loss before income taxes   (97,302)   (42,852)
Income tax expense (benefit)   80   (299)
Net loss  $ (97,382)  $ (42,553)
         
Basic and diluted loss per share  $ (2.68)  $ (1.18)
 
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)
 

  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
February 2,

2019   
February 3,

2018  
         
Net loss  $ (97,382)  $ (42,553)
         
Pension actuarial income (loss) adjustment   263   (196)
Comprehensive loss  $ (97,119)  $ (42,749)
 
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(dollars and shares in thousands)
 

  
Common
Shares     

Common
Stock     

Additional
Paid-in
Capital     

Treasury
Shares     

Treasury
Stock

At Cost     

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss     

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulaed
Deficit)     

Shareholders’
Equity  

Balance as of January 28, 2017     64,253  $ 643  $ 338,075   (28,137)  $ (230,144)  $ (802)  $ 90,164  $ 197,936 
Net Loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   (42,553)   (42,553)
Pension actuarial loss

adjustment   —   —   —   —   —   (196)   —   (196)
Vested restricted shares   50   —   (39)   (20)   (1)   —   —   (40)
Common stock issued in the

acquisition of etailz   2   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Amortization of unearned

compensation/restricted stock
amortization   —   —   3,067   —   —   —   —   3,067 

Balance as of February 3, 2018   64,305  $ 643  $ 341,103   (28,157)  $ (230,145)  $ (998)  $ 47,611  $ 158,214 
Decrease to opening balance of

Retained Earnings as a result
of applying ASU 2014-09   —   —   —   —   —   —   (456)   (456)

Net Loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   (97,382)   (97,382)
Pension actuarial income

adjustment   —   —   —   —   —   263   —   263 
Vested restricted shares   —   —   —   (21)   (21)   —   —   (21)
Common stock issued-new

grants   132   1   79   —   —   —   —   80 
Amortization of unearned

compensation/restricted stock
amortization   —   —   3,032   —   —   —   —   3,032 

Balance as of February 2, 2019   64,437  $ 644  $ 344,214  $ (28,178)  $ (230,166)  $ (735)  $ (50,227)  $ 63,730 
 
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
 

  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
February 2,

2019   
February 3,

2018  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         
Net loss  ($ 97,382)  ($ 42,553)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation of fixed assets   5,226   10,272 
Amortization of intangible assets   3,890   3,890 
Amortization of lease valuations   —   (20)
Stock based compensation   3,032   3,067 
Treasury stock received for payment of withholding tax on exercises of RSUs   (21)   — 
Adjustment to contingent consideration   (272)   (3,280)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets   422   579 
Loss on impairment of goodwill and long lived assets   59,658   29,107 
Change in cash surrender value   78   (399)
Gain on life insurance asset   —   (8,733)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities that provide (use) cash:         
Accounts receivable   (914)   2,616 
Merchandise inventory   14,535   16,892 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   319   1,295 
Other long-term assets   6   (668)
Accounts payable   (7,451)   (10,527)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (1,134)   1,648 
Deferred revenue   (1,509)   (1,293)
Other long-term liabilities   (4,001)   (1,906)

Net cash used in operating activities   (25,518)   (13)
         

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         
Purchases of fixed assets   (3,689)   (8,407)
Proceeds from company owned life insurance

  —   14,363 
Investment in joint venture   —   (2,575)
Capital distributions from joint venture   1,347   1,101 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (2,342)   4,482 
         

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         
Exercise of equity awards, net of treasury shares received   80   — 
Vesting of long term equity awards   —   (39)
Payments of long term borrowings   (35,734)   (11,657)
Proceeds from long term borrowings   35,734   11,657 
Payments to etailz shareholders   (1,500)   (5,000)
Purchase of treasury stock   —   (1)

Net cash used in financing activities   (1,420)   (5,040)
         

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   (29,280)   (571)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year   43,506   44,077 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year  $ 14,226  $ 43,506 

         
Supplemental disclosures and non-cash investing and financing activities:         

         
Interest paid  $ 723  $ 332 
         
Issuance of restricted performance based awards / deferred / restricted shares under deferred / restricted stock agreements   109   120 

 
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 Index to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 

Note Number and Description
 
Note No.
 
1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
  
2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
  
3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
  
4. Fixed Assets
  
5. Restricted Cash
  
6. Credit Facility
  
7. Leases
  
8. Shareholders’ Equity
  
9. Benefit Plans
  
10. Income Taxes
  
11. Related Party Transactions
  
12. Commitments and Contingencies
  
13. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
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 TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Note 1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Nature of Operations: Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries (“the Company”) operates in two reportable segments: fye and etailz. The fye segment is a
specialty retailer of entertainment products, including trend, video, music, electronics and related products in the United States. The fye segment operates a chain of retail
entertainment stores and e-commerce sites, www.fye.com and www.secondspin.com. As of February 2, 2019, the fye segment operated 210 stores totaling approximately 1.2
million square feet in the United States, the District of Columbia and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The etailz segment is a digital marketplace retailer and generates substantially all
of its revenue through Amazon Marketplace. The Company’s business is seasonal in nature, with the peak selling period being the holiday season which falls in the Company’s
fourth fiscal quarter.
 
Liquidity: The Company’s primary sources of liquidity are borrowing capacity under its revolving credit facility, available cash and cash equivalents, and to a lesser extent,
cash generated from operations. Our cash requirements relate primarily to working capital needed to operate and grow our business, including funding operating expenses, the
purchase of inventory and capital expenditures. Our ability to achieve profitability and meet future liquidity needs and capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors,
including the timing and amount of our revenue; the timing and amount of our operating expenses; the timing and costs of working capital needs; and changes in our strategy or
our planned activities.
 
The Company incurred net losses of $97.4 million and $42.6 million for the years ended February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, respectively, and has an accumulated deficit of
$50.2 million at February 2, 2019. In addition, net cash used in operating activities for the year ended February 2, 2019 was $25.5 million.
 
A noted above, the Company experienced negative cash flows from operations during fiscal 2018 and 2017 and we expect to continue to incur net losses in the foreseeable
future. We implemented strategic initiatives on December 11, 2018, aimed at improving organizational efficiency and conserving working capital needed to support the growth
of our etailz segment (the “performance improvement plan”). As a result of the initiative, we expect that annual expenses will be reduced by $4.0 to $5.0 million.
 
At February 2, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $4.4 million, net working capital of $65.9 million, and no outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility, as
further discussed below. This compares to $31.3 million in cash and cash equivalents and net working capital of $92.8 million at February 3, 2018. We anticipate an
improvement in cash flows from operations for fiscal year 2019.
 
In January 2017, the Company amended and restated its revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility provides for commitments of $50 million subject to
increase up to $75 million during the months of October to December of each year, as needed. The availability under the Credit Facility is subject to limitations based on
receivables and inventory levels. The principal amount of all outstanding loans under the Credit Facility together with any accrued but unpaid interest, are due and payable in
January 2022, unless otherwise paid earlier pursuant to the terms of the Credit Facility. Payments of amounts due under the Credit Facility are secured by the assets of the
Company. During fiscal 2018, the Company exercised the right to increase its availability to $60 million subject to the same limitations noted above. The Company had $30
million available for borrowing under the Credit Facility as of February 2, 2019.

47



The Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including restrictions on dividends and share repurchases, incurrence of additional indebtedness and
acquisitions and covenants around the net number of store closings and restrictions related to the payment of cash dividends and share repurchases, including limiting the
amount of dividends to $5 million annually, and not allowing borrowings under the amended facility for the six months before or six months after the dividend payment. On
October 29, 2018, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Wells Fargo in accordance with the Credit Facility in which Wells Fargo provided consent to the Company
exceeding the permitted number of store closures and related inventory dispositions.
 
The Credit Facility also includes customary events of default, including, among other things, material adverse effect, bankruptcy, and certain changes of control. As of February
2, 2019, the Company was compliant with all covenants. On May 3, 2019, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Wells Fargo in accordance with the Credit Facility
in which Wells Fargo provided consent to the Company with respect to late delivery of the Annual Financial Statements.
 
In addition to the aforementioned current sources of existing working capital, the Company may explore certain other strategic alternatives that may become available to the
Company, as well continuing our efforts to generate additional sales and increase margins. However, at this time the Company has no commitments to obtain any additional
funds, and there can be no assurance such funds will be available on acceptable terms or at all, should we require such additional funds. If the Company is unable to improve its
operations, it may be required to obtain additional funding, and the Company’s financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
 
Furthermore, broad market and industry factors may seriously harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance, and may adversely impact
our ability to raise additional funds, should we require such additional funds. Similarly, if our common stock is delisted from the NASDAQ Global Market, it may also limit our
ability to raise additional funds.
 
The consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2019 were prepared on the basis of a going concern which contemplates that the Company will be
able to realize assets and discharge liabilities in the normal course of business. The ability of the Company to meet its liabilities and to continue as a going concern is dependent
on improved profitability, the performance improvement plan implemented for the etailz segment and the availability of future funding. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.
 
Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial statements consist of Trans World Entertainment Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Record Town, Inc. (“Record
Town”), Record Town’s subsidiaries and etailz, Inc. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions, including those related to
merchandise inventory and return costs; valuation of goodwill and long-lived assets, income taxes, accounting for gift card liabilities, retirement plan obligation, and other long-
term liabilities that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Items Affecting Comparability: The Company’s fiscal year is a 52 or 53-week period ending the Saturday nearest to January 31. Fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 ended February 2,
2019 and February 3, 2018, respectively. Fiscal 2018 had 52 weeks and fiscal 2017 had 53 weeks.
 
Concentration of Business Risks: The fye segment purchases inventory from approximately 460 suppliers. In fiscal 2018, 37% of fye purchases were made from ten suppliers
including Universal Studio Home
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Entertainment, Paramount Video, Buena Vista Home Video, SONY Music, Twentieth Century Fox Home Entertainment, Warner/Elektra/Atlantic, Universal Music Group
Distribution, Funko LLC, Warner Home Video, and Alliance Entertainment.
 
The etailz segment purchases various inventory from numerous suppliers. The segment does not have material long-term purchase contracts; rather, it purchases products from
its suppliers on an order-by-order basis. Historically, the etailz segment has not experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory sources of supply and management believes that
it will continue to have access to adequate sources of supply.
 
etailz generates substantially all of its revenue through the Amazon Marketplace. Therefore, the segment depends in large part on its relationship with Amazon for its continued
growth. In particular, the etailz segment depends on its ability to offer products on the Amazon Marketplace and on its timely delivery of products to customers.
 
During fiscal 2018, in response to the general decline in operating results, management implemented certain vendor remediation initiatives directed towards improving the
segment’s performance, operations, and cash flow, including terminating unprofitable vendors and preparing for vendor negotiations, significant reduction in pay-in-advance
terms, and improving vendor relationships through negotiations focused on improvements to gross margins and supply chain efficiencies.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
 
Restricted Cash: Cash and cash equivalents that are restricted as to withdrawal or use under the terms of certain contractual agreements are recorded in Restricted Cash on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
 
Concentration of Credit Risks: The Company maintains centralized cash management and investment programs whereby excess cash balances are invested in short-term
money market funds. The Company’s investments consist of short-term investment grade securities consistent with its investment guidelines. These guidelines include the
provision that sufficient liquidity will be maintained to meet anticipated cash flow needs. The Company maintains these investments, all of which are classified as cash
equivalents due to their short term nature, with Wells Fargo Securities, LLC. The Company limits the amount of credit exposure with any one financial institution and believes
that no significant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to cash investments.
 
Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable for the fye segment are primarily comprised of receivables due from commissions due from third parties. For the etailz segment,
accounts receivable are comprised of receivables due from Amazon. There are no provisions for uncollectible amounts from retail sales of merchandise inventory since payment
is received at the time of sale.
 
Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Merchandise inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value under the average cost method. Inventory valuation
requires significant judgment and estimates, including obsolescence, shrink and any adjustments to net realizable value, if market value is lower than cost. The Company records
obsolescence and any adjustments to net realizable value (if lower than cost) based on current and anticipated demand, customer preferences and market conditions. The
provision for inventory shrink is estimated as a percentage of store sales for the period from the last date a physical inventory was performed to the end of the fiscal year. Such
estimates are based on historical results and trends, and the shrink results from the last physical inventory. Physical inventories are taken at least annually for all stores and the
distribution center throughout the year, and inventory records are adjusted accordingly.
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The Company is generally entitled to return merchandise purchased from major music vendors for credit against other purchases from these vendors. Certain vendors reduce the
credit with a merchandise return charge which varies depending on the type of merchandise being returned. Certain other vendors charge a handling fee based on units returned.
The Company records all merchandise return charges in cost of sales.
 
Fixed Assets and Depreciation: Fixed assets are recorded at cost and depreciated or amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:
 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term
Fixtures and equipment 3-7 years
 
Major improvements and betterments to existing facilities and equipment are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
 
Goodwill: The Company’s goodwill resulted from the acquisition of etailz and represented the excess purchase price over the net identifiable assets acquired. All of the goodwill
is associated with etailz, a separate reporting unit, and there is no goodwill associated with the other reporting unit, fye. Goodwill is not amortized and the Company is required
to evaluate goodwill for impairment at least annually or whenever indicators of impairment are present. The Company’s annual test is completed at the end of the fourth fiscal
quarter, and interim tests are conducted when circumstances indicate the carrying value of the goodwill may not be recoverable. 
 
Estimating the fair value of reporting units requires the use of estimates and significant judgments that are based on a number of factors including actual operating results. It is
possible that these judgments and estimates could change in future periods.
 
As a result of the annual impairment review pursuant to FASB ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, the Company performed its impairment test over goodwill. Based
on the Company’s annual impairment test, it was determined that the goodwill balance was fully impaired, and the Company recognized an impairment loss of $39.2 million.
 
Long Lived Assets other than Goodwill: Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset over its remaining useful life. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Fair value is generally measured based on discounted estimated future
cash flows. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less
disposition costs. For the purpose of the asset impairment test, the fye segment has two asset groupings – corporate and store level assets. For the purposes of the asset
impairment test, the etailz segment has one asset grouping, which is the same as the etailz reporting unit level.
 
During fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses within the fye segment driven by lower than expected fourth quarter sales that
triggering events had occurred in each respective fiscal year, and pursuant to FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, an evaluation of the fye fixed assets for
impairment was required. Fixed assets primarily at the Company’s retail store locations, as well as certain fixed assets at the corporate location, consisting of the home office
and the Albany distribution center, where impairment was determined to exist were written down to their estimated fair values as of the end of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017,
resulting in the recording of asset impairment charges of $1.9 million and $29.1 million, respectively. Estimated fair values for fixed assets at these locations, including store
fixtures, equipment, and leasehold improvements were determined based on a measure of discounted future cash flows
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over the remaining lease terms at the respective locations. Future cash flows were estimated based on individual store and corporate level plans and were discounted at a rate
approximating the Company’s cost of capital. Management believes its assumptions were reasonable and consistently applied.
 
During fiscal 2018, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses for the etailz segment driven by lower than expected operating results culminating in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 that a triggering event had occurred, and pursuant to FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, an evaluation of the etailz fixed assets and
intangible assets for impairment was required. Fixed assets related to internally developed technology at etailz were written down to their estimated fair values at the end of
fiscal 2018 resulting in the recognition of asset impairment charges of $2.1 million. Intangible assets related to technology and vendor relationships were written down to their
estimated fair values at the end of fiscal 2018 resulting in the recognition of asset impairment charges of $16.4 million.
 
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations: The Company records the fair value of an asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) as a liability in the period in which it incurs a legal
obligation associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development, and/or normal use of the asset. The Company
also records a corresponding asset that is depreciated over the life of the asset. Subsequent to its initial measurement, the ARO is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the
passage of time and changes in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation.
 
Commitments and Contingencies: The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally
adjudicated. Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate disposition of these matters, it is management’s opinion, based upon the information available at this time,
that the expected outcome of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the
Company.
 
Revenue Recognition:
 
Retail Sales
 
The Company recognizes sales revenue, net of sales taxes and estimated sales returns, at the time it sells merchandise to the customer (point of sale). Internet sales include
shipping revenue and are recorded upon shipment to the customer. The Company records shipping and handling costs in cost of sales. Additionally, estimated sales returns are
calculated based on expected returns.
 
Membership Fee Revenue
 
The Company recognizes membership fee revenue over the term of the membership, which is typically 12 months for the Company’s Platinum Backstage Pass membership, and
24 months for the Company’s Backstage Pass VIP membership. For the Company’s Platinum Backstage Pass program, the contractual term of the program is 12 months, in
which revenue is recognized over that service period. For the Company’s Backstage Pass VIP program, the term of the program is indefinite until a customer cancels the
membership. The Company estimates 24 months as the service period based on historical cancellation patterns and recognizes revenue over that service period. Membership in
each program provides customers with merchandise discounts and exclusive member-only offers. Total membership fees related to the loyalty programs collected in advance,
net of estimated refunds, were as follows: cash received from customers during fiscal 2018 and 2017 was $13.7 million and $16.9 million, respectively. Membership fee revenue
recognized was $15.0 million and $17.9 million during fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively, and recognized on a straight-line basis over the service period. The remaining
performance obligation associated with the membership programs was $4.8 million and $6.1 million as of the end of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. Membership fee
revenue is included in Net Sales in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Deferred membership revenue is included in Deferred Revenue in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 
Other Revenue
The Company recognizes revenue related to commissions earned from third parties. The Company assesses the principal versus agent considerations depending on control of the
good or service before it is transferred to the customer. As the Company is the agent and does not have control of the specified good or service, the Company recognizes the fee
or commission to which the Company expects to be entitled for the agency service. Commissions earned from third parties were $5.0 million and $5.3 million during fiscal 2018
and fiscal 2017, respectively, and are included in Other Revenue in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 
Gift Cards
The Company offers gift cards for sale, which is included in deferred revenue in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. When gift cards are redeemed at the store level, revenue is
recorded and the related liability is reduced. Breakage is estimated based on proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by the customer. The Company has the ability to
reasonably and reliably estimate the gift card liability based on historical experience with redemption rates associated with a large volume of homogeneous transactions. The
Company issued $1.9 million and $2.8 million in gift cards for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. The Company recognized in revenue for redeemed gift cards of $1.9
million and $2.8 million for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. The Company recorded breakage on its gift cards for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 in the amount of $0.2
million and $0.4 million, respectively. Gift card breakage is recorded as Other Revenue in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The remaining performance
obligation associated with our gift cards was $2.0 million and $2.2 million as of the end of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.
 
Cost of Sales: In addition to the cost of product, the Company includes in cost of sales those costs associated with purchasing, receiving, shipping, online marketplace
fulfillment fees, inspecting and warehousing product, and depreciation related to distribution operations. Also included are costs associated with the return of product to
vendors. Cost of sales further includes the cost of inventory shrink losses and obsolescence and the benefit of vendor allowances and discounts.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses: Included in SG&A expenses are payroll and related costs, store operating costs, occupancy charges, Amazon fees,
professional and service fees, general operating and overhead expenses and depreciation charges (excluding those related to distribution operations). Selling, general and
administrative expenses also include fixed asset write offs associated with store closures, if any, and miscellaneous income and expense items, other than interest. 
 
Advertising Costs and Vendor Allowances: The fye segment often receives allowances from its vendors to fund in-store displays, print and radio advertising, and other
promotional events. Vendor advertising allowances which exceed specific, incremental and identifiable costs incurred in relation to the advertising and promotions offered by
the Company to its vendors are classified as a reduction in the purchase price of merchandise inventory. Accordingly, advertising and sales promotion costs are charged to
operations, offset by direct vendor reimbursements, as incurred. Total advertising expense, excluding vendor allowances, was $2.2 million and $3.1 million in fiscal 2018 and
fiscal 2017, respectively. In the aggregate, vendor allowances supporting the fye segment’s advertising and promotion are included as a reduction of SG&A expenses, and
reimbursements of such costs were $2.1 million and $2.8 million in fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively. Advertising costs for the etailz segment primarily consist of Amazon
marketing expenses which were $1.7 million and $1.2 million in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.
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Lease Accounting: The Company’s calculation of straight-line rent expense includes the impact of escalating rents for the lease period and includes any period during which
the Company is not obligated to pay rent while the store is being constructed (“rent holiday”). The Company accounts for step rent provisions, escalation clauses and other lease
concessions by recognizing these amounts on a straight line basis over the initial lease term. The Company capitalizes leasehold improvements funded by tenant improvement
allowances, depreciating them over the term of the related leases. The tenant improvement allowances are recorded as deferred rent within other long-term liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and are amortized as a reduction in rent expense over the life of the related leases.
 
Store Closing Costs: Management periodically considers the closing of underperforming stores. In the event of a store closing, reserves are established at the time a liability is
incurred for the present value of any remaining lease obligations, net of estimated sublease income, and other exit costs. Store closings are not considered discontinued
operations and as such, closings do not represent a significant change on the Company’s operations and financial results.
 
Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable
to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax
assets are subject to valuation allowances based upon management’s estimates of realizability.
 
The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at
the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. It
is the Company’s practice to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense (benefit) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 
Stock-Based Compensation: Stock-based compensation represents the cost related to stock-based awards granted to employees and directors. The Company measures stock-
based compensation cost at grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award, and recognizes the cost as expense on a straight-line basis (net of estimated forfeitures)
over the option’s requisite service period. The Company recognizes compensation expense based on estimated grant date fair value using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. Tax benefits, if any, resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those options are to be classified and reported as both an operating
cash outflow and financing cash inflow.
 
Comprehensive Income (Loss): Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and a pension actuarial income (loss) adjustment that is recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) (see Note 9).
 
Income (Loss) Per Share: Basic and diluted income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the
period. During fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, the impact of all outstanding stock awards was not considered because the Company reported a net loss and such impact would be
anti-dilutive. Accordingly, basic and diluted loss per share for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 was the same. Total anti-dilutive stock awards for fiscal 2018 was approximately 2.9
million shares as compared to 2.6 million shares for fiscal 2017.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments: Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal
or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
 
In determining fair value, the accounting standards establish a three level hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value, as follows:
 
• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 — Significant observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, such as quoted prices for identical or similar assets or

liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
• Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs reflecting our own assumptions, consistent with reasonably available assumptions made by other market participants.
 
The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other current liabilities approximate
fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying value of life insurance policies included in other assets approximates fair
value based on estimates received from insurance companies and are classified as Level 2 measurements within the hierarchy as defined by applicable accounting standards.
The Company had no Level 3 financial assets or liabilities at February 2, 2019 or at February 3, 2018.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it
expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. On February 4, 2018, the Company adopted Topic 606 using the modified retrospective
approach. The new standard states that revenue is recognized when performance obligations are satisfied by transferring goods or services to the customer in an amount that the
entity expects to collect in exchange for those goods or services. The satisfaction of a performance obligation with a single customer may occur at a point in time or may occur
over time. The significant majority of the Company’s revenue is recognized at a point in time, generally when a customer purchases and takes possession of merchandise
through the stores or when merchandise purchased through our e-commerce websites is shipped to a customer. Revenues do not include sales taxes or other taxes collected from
customers. The Company has arrangements with customers where the performance obligations are satisfied over time, which primarily relate to the loyalty programs and gift
card liabilities. The adoption of Topic 606 impacted the timing of revenue recognition for gift card breakage. Prior to adoption of Topic 606, gift card breakage was recognized
at the point gift card redemption became remote. In accordance with the Topic 606, the Company recognizes gift card breakage in proportion to the pattern of rights exercised
by the customer. The adoption of Topic 606 also impacted the presentation of the Consolidated Balance Sheets related to sales return reserves to be recorded on a gross basis,
consisting of a separate right of return asset and liability. The Company’s evaluation of Topic 606 included a review of certain third-party arrangements to determine whether
the Company acts as principal or agent in such arrangements, and such evaluation did not result in any material changes in gross versus net presentation as a result of the
adoption of the new standard. The cumulative effect of initially applying Topic 606 was a $0.3 million increase to the opening balance of inventory, a $0.3 million increase to
the opening balance of accrued expenses and other liabilities, a $0.5 million increase to the opening balance of deferred revenue, and a $0.5 million decrease to the opening
balance of retained earnings as of February 4, 2018. The comparative prior period information continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect during those
periods.
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Segment Information: The Company operates in two reportable segments: fye and etailz. Operating earnings (loss) by operating segment, is defined as income (loss) from
operations, net interest expense, other income, and income taxes. Total Revenue, Gross Profit, and Loss From Operations by reportable segment in U.S. dollars were as follows:
 

(amounts in thousands)  

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 2,
2019   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 3,
2018  

       
Total Revenue         

fye  $ 231,290  $ 268,397 
etailz   186,900   174,459 

Total Company  $ 418,190  $ 442,856 
         

Gross Profit         
fye  $ 89,259  $ 104,254 
etailz   38,815   39,589 

Total Company  $ 128,074  $ 143,843 
         
Loss From Operations         

fye  $ (24,455)  $ (49,261)
etailz   (72,351)   (2,140)

Total Company  $ (96,806)  $ (51,401)
         

Merchandise Inventory         
fye  $ 69,785  $ 86,217 
etailz   25,057   22,895 

Total Company  $ 94,842  $ 109,112 
         

Total Assets         
fye  $ 101,785  $ 153,050 
etailz   36,228   94,856 

Total Company  $ 138,013  $ 247,906 
         
Other Long Term Liabilities         

fye  $ 24,789  $ 27,777 
etailz   78   1,354 

Total Company  $ 24,867  $ 29,131 
         
Capital Expenditures         

fye  $ 1,242  $ 7,342 
etailz   2,447   1,065 

Total Company  $ 3,689  $ 8,407 
 
Note 2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB established Topic 842, Leases, by issuing Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, which requires lessees to recognize leases on-balance
sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. Topic 842 was subsequently amended by ASU No. 2018-01, Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition
to Topic 842; ASU No. 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases; and ASU No. 2018-11, Targeted Improvements. The new standard establishes a right-of-use
model (ROU) that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset and lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with a term 

55



longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense recognition in the income
statement.
 
The new standard is effective for on February 3, 2019 with early adoption permitted. A modified retrospective transition approach is required, applying the new standard to all
leases existing at the date of initial application. An entity may choose to use either (1) its effective date or (2) the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the
financial statements as its date of initial application. The Company will adopt the new standard on February 3, 2019 and use the effective date as the date of initial application.
Consequently, financial information will not be updated and the disclosures required under the new standard will not be provided for dates and periods before February 3, 2019.
 
The new standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company expects to elect the ‘package of practical expedients’, which permits
management not to reassess under the new standard the prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs. Management does not expect to
elect the use-of-hindsight or the practical expedient pertaining to land easements; the latter not being applicable to the Company.
 
The Company expects that this standard will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements. While the Company continues to assess all of the effects of
adoption, management currently believes the most significant effects relate to (1) the recognition of new ROU assets and lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet for
the retail stores, distribution centers, home office operating leases; and; (2) providing significant new disclosures about our leasing activities.
 
The new standard also provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting. Management currently expects to elect the short-term lease recognition exemption for
all leases that qualify. This means, for those leases that qualify, the Company will not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities, and this includes not recognizing ROU assets or
lease liabilities for existing short-term leases of those assets in transition, which represents approximately 158 retail stores, or 75%, of the total number of retail stores in
operation at February 3, 2019. Management also currently expects to elect the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for all of its leases.
 
In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, “Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic
Postretirement Benefit Cost,” which is intended to improve the presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic post-retirement benefit cost in an entity’s financial
statements by requiring the service cost component be disaggregated from other components of net benefit costs and presented in the same line item or items as other
compensation costs for the employees. Additionally, only the service cost component of net benefit cost is eligible for capitalization when applicable. ASU 2017-07 is effective
for the Company’s fiscal year beginning February 3, 2019, and must be applied retrospectively. ASU 2017-07 is permitted for early adoption, but only at the beginning of an
annual period for which financial statements have not been issued or made available for issuance. The Company does not expect that this standard will have a material effect on
its consolidated financial statements.
 
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting,” which provided clarity as to what
changes to the terms or conditions of share-based payment awards require an entity to apply modification accounting in Topic 718. ASU 2017-09 is effective for the Company
for interim and annual periods in fiscal year beginning February 3, 2019, with early adoption permitted and is applied prospectively to changes in terms or conditions of awards
occurring on or after the adoption date. The Company does not expect that this standard will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 
Goodwill is not amortized, but is evaluated for impairment at least annually. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired in the etailz acquisition.
 
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including revenue growth rates, operating margins, discount rates, and
future market conditions, among others. Goodwill and other long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment if circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.
 
During fiscal 2018, the Company concluded, based on continued operating losses for the etailz segment driven by lower than expected operating results culminating in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 that a triggering event had occurred, and an evaluation of intangible assets for impairment was required. Intangible assets related to technology and
vendor relationships were written down to their estimated fair value at the end of fiscal 2018 resulting in the recognition of asset impairment charges of $16.4 million. As a
result of the annual goodwill impairment review, it was determined that the goodwill balance was fully impaired, and the Company recognized an impairment loss of $39.2
million.
 
The Company continues to amortize certain vendor relationships, technology, and trade names and trademarks that have finite lives.
 
Identifiable intangible assets as of February 2, 2019 consisted of the following:
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(amounts in thousands)  February 2, 2019  

  

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

(in months)   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   Impairment   

Net Carrying
Amount  

                     
Vendor Relationships   120  $ 19,100  $ 4,398  $ 13,822  $ 880 
Technology   60   6,700   3,078   2,587   1,035 
Trade names and trademarks   60   3,200   1,447   —   1,753 

      $ 29,000  $ 8,923  $ 16,409  $ 3,668 
 
The changes in net intangibles and goodwill from February 3, 2018 to February 2, 2019 were as follows:
 

(amounts in thousands)    
February 3, 

2018   Amortization   Impairment   
February 2, 

2019  
                   
Amortized intangible assets:                   

Vendor relationships    $ 16,612  $ 1,910  $ 13,822  $ 880 
Technology     4,962   1,340   2,587   1,035 
Trade names and trademarks     2,393   640   —   1,753 

Net amortized intangible assets    $ 23,967  $ 3,890  $ 16,409  $ 3,668 
                   
Unamortized intangible assets:                   

Goodwill    $ 39,191   —  $ 39,191  $ — 
Total unamortized intangible assets    $ 39,191   —  $ 39,191  $ — 
 
Estimated amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter is as follows (amounts in thousands):
 

Fiscal Year Amortization
  
2019 $1,143
2020 1,143
2021 847
2022 115
2023 115
Thereafter 305
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Note 4. Fixed Assets
 
Fixed assets consist of the following:
  February 2,   February 3,  
  2019   2018  

(amounts in thousands)       
Fixtures and equipment  $ 10,885  $ 14,403 
Leasehold improvements   6,836   9,836 
Total fixed assets   17,721   24,239 
Allowances for depreciation and amortization   (10,192)   (10,693)
Fixed assets, net  $ 7,529  $ 13,546 
 
Depreciation of fixed assets is included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as follows:
 
  Fiscal Year  
  2018   2017  

(amounts in thousands)       
Cost of sales  $ —  $ 645 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   5,226   9,627 
Total  $ 5,226  $ 10,272 
 
Depreciation expense related to the Company’s distribution center facility and related equipment is included in cost of sales. All other depreciation of fixed assets is included in
SG&A expenses. As noted within Footnote 1, the Company recorded $4.1 million and $29.1 million in fixed asset impairment during fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.
 
Note 5. Restricted Cash
 
As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company had restricted cash of $9.9 million and $12.2 million, respectively.
 
Restricted cash balance at the end of fiscal 2018 consisted of $3.2 million related to the earn-out amount that could be paid to the selling shareholders of etailz in accordance
with the share purchase agreement created during the acquisition of etailz in fiscal 2016; and a $6.7 million rabbi trust, that resulted from the death of the Company’s former
Chairman, of which $1.0 million was classified as restricted cash in current assets and $5.7 million was classified as restricted cash as a long-term asset.
Restricted cash balance at the end of fiscal 2017 consisted of $1.5 million held to satisfy any indemnification claims within 18 months from the date of etailz acquisition; $3.2
million earn-out amount that could be paid to the selling shareholders of etailz in accordance with the share purchase agreement resulted from the etailz acquisition; and a $7.5
million rabbi trust, that resulted from the death of the Company’s former Chairman.
 
A summary of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash is as follows (amounts in thousands):
 

  
February 2,

2019   
February 3,

2018  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4,355  $ 31,326 
Restricted cash   9,871   12,180 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 14,226  $ 43,506 
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Subsequent to the close of fiscal 2018, during the first quarter of fiscal 2019, the $3.2 million earn-out escrow balance was returned to the Company as a result of the etailz
segment not achieving the earnings target, as described in the etailz share purchase agreement.
 
Note 6. Credit Facility
 
In January 2017, the Company amended and restated its revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility provides for commitments of $50 million subject to
increase up to $75 million during the months of October to December of each year, as needed. The availability under the Credit Facility is subject to limitations based on
receivables and inventory levels. The principal amount of all outstanding loans under the Credit Facility together with any accrued but unpaid interest, are due and payable in
January 2022, unless otherwise paid earlier pursuant to the terms of the Credit Facility. Payments of amounts due under the Credit Facility are secured by the assets of the
Company. During fiscal 2018, the Company exercised the right to increase its availability to $60 million subject to the same limitations noted above.
 
The Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including restrictions on dividends and share repurchases, incurrence of additional indebtedness and
acquisitions and covenants around the net number of store closings and restrictions related to the payment of cash dividends and share repurchases, including limiting the
amount of dividends to $5.0 million annually and not allowing borrowings under the amended facility for the six months before or six months after the dividend payment. On
October 29, 2018, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Wells Fargo in accordance with the Credit Facility in which Wells Fargo provided consent to the Company
to exceed the permitted number of store closures and related inventory dispositions.
 
The Credit Facility also includes customary events of default, including, among other things, material adverse effect, bankruptcy, and certain changes of control. As of February
2, 2019, the Company was compliant with all covenants. On May 3, 2019, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Wells Fargo in accordance with the Credit Facility
in which Wells Fargo provided consent to the Company with respect to late delivery of the Annual Financial Statements.
 
Interest under the Credit Facility will accrue, at the election of the Company, at a Base Rate or LIBO Rate, plus, in each case, an Applicable Margin, which is determined by
reference to the level of availability, with the Applicable Margin for LIBO Rate loans ranging from 1.75% to 2.00% and the Applicable Margin for Prime Rate loans ranging
from 0.75% to 1.00%. In addition, a commitment fee of 0.25% is also payable on unused commitments.
 
As of February 2, 2019 and as of February 3, 2018, the Company did not have any borrowings under the Credit Facility. Peak borrowings under the Credit Facility during fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017 were $35.7 million and $11.7 million, respectively. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company had no outstanding letters of credit. The
Company had $30 million and $41 million available for borrowing under the Credit Facility as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, respectively.
 
Note 7. Leases
 
The Company conducts all of its operations from leased premises that include retail stores, distribution centers, and administrative offices. At February 2, 2019, the Company
leased 210 stores under operating leases, many of which contain renewal options and escalation clauses, for periods ranging from one to ten years. Most store leases also
provide for payment of operating expenses and real estate taxes. Some also provide for contingent rent based on percentage of sales over a certain sales volume. During fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017, the Company recorded minimum rentals of $21.7 million and $25.0 million, respectively, and did not record any contingent rentals. In addition, the
Company currently leases 2 distribution centers and 2 administrative offices.
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Future minimum rental payments required under all leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms at February 2, 2019, are as follows (amounts in thousands):
 

  
Operating

Leases  
     

2019 $ 24,426 
2020  8,393 
2021  5,239 
2022  1,881 
2023  1,137 

Thereafter  1,060 
Total minimum payments required $ 42,136 

 
In addition to the obligations in the table above, a number of the Company’s stores have leases which have rent payments based on the store’s sales volume in lieu of fixed
minimum rent payments. During fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, minimum rent payments based on a store’s sales volume were $0.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively.
 
Note 8. Shareholders’ Equity
 
The Company classifies repurchased shares as treasury stock on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. During 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a
share repurchase program. There were no treasury stock repurchases under the share repurchase program during fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. As of February 2, 2019, the
Company has approximately $12.2 million available for future purchases under its share repurchase program.
 
No cash dividends were paid in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. The Company’s Credit Facility contains certain restrictions related to the payment of cash dividends, including
limiting the amount of dividends to $5.0 million annually and not allowing borrowings under the amended facility for the six months before or six months after the dividend
payment.
 
Note 9. Benefit Plans
 
401(k) Savings Plan
 
Each segment of the Company offers a 401(k) Savings Plan to eligible employees meeting certain age and service requirements.
 
The fye segment offers a 401(k) plan which permits participants to contribute up to 80% of their salary, including bonuses, up to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations.
The Company matches 50% of the first 6% of employee contributions after completing one year of service. Participants are immediately vested in their voluntary contributions
plus actual earnings thereon. Participant vesting of the Company’s matching contribution is based on the years of service completed by the participant. Participants are fully
vested upon the completion of four years of service. As of February 3, 2019, the fye segment suspended its matching contribution in response to one of the Company’s cost-
cutting initiatives.
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The etailz segment offers a 401(k) plan which permits participants to contribute up to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations. The Company matches 100% of the first 6%
of employee contributions after completing one year of service. Participants are immediately vested in their voluntary contributions plus actual earnings thereon. Participant
vesting of the Company’s matching contribution is based on the years of service completed by the participant. Participants are fully vested upon the completion of three years of
service. All participant forfeitures of non-vested benefits are used to reduce the Company’s contributions or fees in future years.
 
Total expense related to the fye segment’s matching contributions was approximately $340,000 and $301,000 in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively. Total expense related
to the etailz segment’s matching contributions was approximately $297,000 and $224,000 in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017, respectively.
 
Stock Award Plans
 
As of February 2, 2019, there was approximately $0.6 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option awards comprised of the following: $0.5 million was
related to stock option awards listed in the table below and expected to be recognized as expense over a weighted average period of 1.4 years and $0.1 million was related to
restricted stock option awards expected to be recognized as expense over a weighted average period of 3.7 years.
 
The Company has outstanding awards under three employee stock award plans, the 2005 Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plan, the Amended and Restated 2005 Long
Term Incentive and Share Award Plan (the “Old Plans”); and the 2005 Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plan (as amended and restated April 5, 2017 (the “New “Plan”).
Collectively, these plans are referred to herein as the Stock Award Plans. Additionally, the Company had a stock award plan for non-employee directors (the “1990 Plan”). The
Company no longer issues stock options under the Old Plans or the 1990 Plan.
 
Equity awards authorized for issuance under the New Plan total 5.0 million. As of February 2, 2019, of the awards authorized for issuance under the Stock Award Plans, 2.8
million were granted and are outstanding, 1.9 million of which were vested and exercisable. Shares available for future grants of options and other share based awards under the
New Plan at February 2, 2019 were 4.4 million.
 
The fair values of the options granted have been estimated at the date of grant using the Black - Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
 
  2018  2017
Dividend yield  0%  0%
Expected stock price volatility  50.5-54.0%  40.6-46.4%
Risk-free interest rate  2.71%-3.01%  1.74%-2.39%
Expected award life (in years)  5.64-6.98  5.64-5.71
Weighted average fair value per share of awards granted during the year  $0.50  $0.73
 
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under the Company’s Stock Award Plans as of February 2, 2019:
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  Outstanding   Exercisable  

Exercise
Price Range  Shares   

Average 
Remaining 

Life   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value   Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value  
$0.98-$2.66  1,263,000   5.9   1.61  $ —   673,000  $ 1.82  $ — 

2.67-3.50  615,500   5.9   3.34   —   550,500   3.38   — 
3.51-4.87  899,914   5.6   3.94   —   716,789   3.97   — 

Total  2,778,414   5.8  $ 2.75  $ —   1,940,289  $ 3.06  $ — 
 
The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total pretax intrinsic value based on the Company’s closing common stock price of $0.59 as of February 2,
2019, which would have been received by the award holders had all award holders under the Stock Award Plans exercised their awards as of that date.
 
The following table summarizes stock option activity under the Stock Award Plans:
 
  Employee and Director Stock Award Plans  

  

Number of
Shares

Subject To
Option   

Stock Award
Exercise Price

Range Per
Share   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Other
Share

Awards(1)   

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Value  

Balance January 28, 2017   2,459,564   $1.73-$5.50  $ 3.58   170,927  $ 3.63 
Granted   680,000   1.60-1.85   1.84   65,000   1.85 
Exercised/vested   —   —   —   (52,500)   3.50 
Forfeited   (389,500)   1.85-4.87   3.23   (5,000)   3.53 
Canceled   (164,150)   3.79-5.50   5.43   —   — 
Balance February 3, 2018   2,585,914   $1.60-$4.87  $ 3.06   178,427  $ 3.26 
Granted   555,000   0.98-1.04   0.99   224,484   1.12 
Exercised/vested   —   —   —   (131,500)   1.94 
Forfeited   (290,500)   0.98-3.88   2.07   —   — 
Canceled   (72,000)   1.73-3.88   1.64   —   — 
Balance February 2, 2019   2,778,414   $0.98-$4.87  $ 2.75   271,411  $ 1.68 

(1) Other Share Awards include deferred shares granted to executives and directors.
 
During fiscal 2018, the Company recognized approximately $79 thousand in expenses for deferred shares issued to non-employee directors. During fiscal 2017, the Company
did not issue any deferred shares to non-employee directors. There were no exercises of non-restricted stock options during fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. In connection with the
acquisition of etailz, the Company issued 1,572,552 restricted shares of Company common stock to a key etailz employee, with a grant date fair value of $3.56 per share. These
shares vested ratably through January 2019. Total expense related to these shares was $2.4 million and $2.5 million in fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of February 2,
2019, the Company recognized a total of $5.6 million of compensation cost related to these restricted shares.
 
Defined Benefit Plans
 
The Company maintains a non-qualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for certain Executive Officers of the Company. The SERP, which is unfunded,
provides eligible executives defined pension benefits that supplement benefits under other retirement arrangements. The annual benefit amount is based on salary and bonus at
the time of retirement and number of years of service.
 
Prior to June 1, 2003, the Company had provided the Board of Directors with a noncontributory, unfunded retirement plan (“Director Retirement Plan”) that paid retired
directors an annual retirement benefit.
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For fiscal 2018 and 2017, net periodic benefit cost recognized under both plans totaled approximately $0.6 million in each fiscal year. The accrued pension liability for both
plans was approximately $17.5 million and $18.3 million at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, respectively, and is recorded within other long term liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The accumulated benefit obligation for both plans was $17.7 million and $18.4 million as of the fiscal years ended February 2, 2019 and February
3, 2018, respectively.
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans as of each fiscal year-end:
 
Obligation and Funded Status:

 

(amounts in thousands)  
February 2, 

2019   
February 3, 

2018  
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:         
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 18,334  $ 18,700 
Service cost   56   63 
Interest cost   560   555 
Actuarial (gain) loss   (275)   177 
Benefits paid   (1,199)   (1,161)

Benefit obligation at end of year  $ 17,476  $ 18,334 
         
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ —  $ — 
         
Funded status  $ (17,476)  $ (18,334)
Unrecognized net actuarial gain   (263)   (102)

Accrued benefit cost  $ (17,739)  $ (18,436)
 
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of:
 

  
February 2, 

2019   
February 3, 

2018  
(amounts in thousands)       
Current liability  $ (1,199)  $ (1,199)
Long term liability   (16,002)   (17,135)
Add: Accumulated other comprehensive income   (275)   (102)

Net amount recognized  $ (17,476)  $ (18,436)
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss:
 

Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
   Fiscal Year  

  2018   2017  
Service cost  $ 56  $ 63 
Interest cost   560   555 
Amortization of prior service cost   —   17 
Amortization of actuarial net gain   (19)   (36)

Net periodic benefit cost  $ 597  $ 599 
 
Other Changes in Benefit Obligations Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss: 
 
  2018   2017  
Net prior service cost recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost  $ —  $ (17)
          
Net actuarial gains arising during the period   263   213 
   263   196 
Income tax effect   —   — 
Total recognized in other comprehensive loss  $ 263  $ 196 
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive loss  $ 334  $ 795 
 
The pre-tax components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, which have not yet been recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost as of February 2, 2019 and
February 3, 2018 and the tax effect are summarized below.
 
(amounts in thousands)  February 2,   February 3,  
  2019   2018  
Net unrecognized actuarial gain  $ (263)  $ (102)
Other actuarial adjustments   (102)   — 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  $ (365)  $ (102)
Tax expense   1,100   1,100 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  $ 735  $ 998 
 
  Fiscal Year
  2018  2017
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation:     

Discount rate  3.37%  3.42%
Salary increase rate  3.00%  3.00%
Measurement date  Jan 31, 2019  Jan 31, 2018

     
  Fiscal Year
  2018  2017
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:     

Discount rate  3.61%  3.16%
Salary increase rate  3.00%  3.00%

 
The discount rate is based on the rates implicit in high-quality fixed-income investments currently available as of the measurement date. The Citigroup Pension Discount Curve
(CPDC) rates are intended to represent the spot rates implied by the high quality corporate bond market in the U.S. The projected benefit payments attributed to the projected
benefit obligation have been discounted using the CPDC mid-year rates and the discount rate is the single constant rate that produces the same total present value.
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The following benefit payments over the next ten years, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:
 

Year  Pension Benefits
(amounts in thousands)  
2019  1,199
2020  1,192
2021  1,184
2022  1,149
2023  1,149
2024 – 2028  6,769

 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
 

(amounts in thousands)  
Pension
Benefit  

February 3, 2018  $ (998)
Other comprehensive income   263 
February 2, 2019  $ (735)
 
Note 10. Income Taxes
 
Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:
 

  Fiscal Year  
(amounts in thousands)  2018   2017  
       
Federal - current  $ (184)  $ (500)
State - current   264   201 
Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 80  $ (299)
 
A reconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate with the federal statutory rate is as follows:
 

  2018   2017  
Federal statutory rate   21.0%   33.7%
State income taxes, net of federal tax effect   (0.3%)  (0.5%)
Change in Valuation Allowance   (12.5%)  36.1%
Cash surrender value - insurance / benefit program   —%   7.0%
Goodwill Impairment   (8.5%)  —%
Contingent consideration   0.1%   2.6%
Change in US Federal Statutory Tax Rate   —%   (79.4%)
Other   0.1%   1.2%
Effective tax rate   (0.1%)  0.7%

66



The other category is comprised of various items, including the impacts of non-deductible meals, dues, penalties, amortization, parking benefits and the refundable portion of
the federal alternative minimum tax carryover credit.
 
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:
 

(amounts in thousands)  
February 2, 

2019   
February 3, 

2018  
         

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS         
Accrued Expenses  $ 559  $ 260 
Retirement and compensation related accruals   6,001   6,724 
Fixed assets   6,463   7,561 
Federal and state net operating loss and credit carry forwards   75,117   64,807 
Real estate leases, included deferred rent   1,973   2,446 
Losses on investment   584   827 
Others   556   577 
Gross deferred tax assets before valuation allowance  $ 91,253  $ 83,202 
Less: valuation allowance   (90,161)   (76,810)
Total deferred tax assets  $ 1,092  $ 6,392 

         
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES         
Intangibles  $ (922)  $ (6,193)
Inventory   (170)   (199)
Total deferred tax liabilities  $ (1,092)  $ (6,392)

         
NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET  $ —  $ — 
 
The Company, at the end of fiscal 2018, has a net operating loss carryforward of $253.5 million for federal income tax purposes which will expire at various times throughout
2038 with a portion being available indefinitely. The Company has approximately $289.0 million of net operating loss carryforward for state income tax purposes as of the end
of fiscal 2018 that expire at various times through 2038 and are subject to certain limitations and statutory expiration periods. The state net operating loss carryforwards are
subject to various business apportionment factors and multiple jurisdictional requirements when utilized. The Company has federal tax credit carryforwards of $0.5 million
which will expire in 2026. The Company has state tax credit carryforwards of $1.1 million, of which $0.2 million will expire in 2027.
 
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. Management considers the scheduled reversal of taxable
temporary differences, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on the available objective evidence, management
concluded that a full valuation allowance should be recorded against its deferred tax assets. As of February 2, 2019, the valuation allowance increased to $90.2 million from
$76.8 million at February 3, 2018. Management will continue to assess the valuation allowance against the gross deferred assets.
 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the respective years is provided below. Amounts presented excluded interest and
penalties, where applicable, on unrecognized tax benefits:
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  Fiscal Year  
(amounts in thousands)  2018   2017  

         
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year  $ 1,930  $ 1,930 
Increases in tax positions from prior years   —   — 
Decreases in tax positions from prior years   —   — 
Increases in tax positions for current years   —   — 
Settlements   —   — 
Lapse of applicable statute of limitations   —   — 
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year  $ 1,930  $ 1,930 
 
As of February 2, 2019, the Company had $1.9 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits, $1.5 million of which would affect the Company’s tax rate if recognized. While it is
reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease within the next twelve months, the Company does not expect the change to have a
significant impact on its results of operations or financial position. The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of multiple state jurisdictions. The
Company has substantially concluded all federal income tax matters and all material state and local income tax matters through fiscal 2013.
 
The Company’s practice is to recognize interest and penalties associated with its unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations. During fiscal 2018, the Company accrued a provision for interest expense of $0.2 million. As of February 2, 2019, the liability for
uncertain tax positions reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets was $3.3 million, including accrued interest and penalties of $2.5 million.
 
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was enacted. The Act makes broad and complex changes to the U.S. tax code including a significant reduction to
the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent effective January 1, 2018. These changes were presented on prior year, rate reconciliation, accordingly, the
federal deferred tax assets were written down to account for the change in fiscal 2017. The write down is reflected in both the valuation allowance and the deferred tax assets
which total $35.0 million in fiscal 2017. As of February 3, 2018 this change is also presented in the effective tax rate schedule as a reduction to the prior year losses by 79.4%.
The valuation allowance rate impact includes an offsetting reduction for the tax rate which results in no change to the provision for income taxes.
 
The Act also repeals the Corporation Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”) for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. Any AMT carryover credits will be refundable
starting in the 2018 tax year, remaining credit will be fully refundable in 2021, as such, the Company recorded a current benefit in its’ financial statements.
 
Note 11. Related Party Transactions
 
The Company leases its 181,300 square foot distribution center/office facility in Albany, New York from an entity controlled by the estate of Robert J. Higgins, its former
Chairman and largest shareholder. The distribution center/office lease commenced on January 1, 2016, and expires on December 31, 2020. Under the lease, accounted for as an
operating lease, the Company paid $1.2 million in fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017. Under the terms of the lease agreement, the Company is responsible for property taxes and other
operating costs with respect to the premises.
 
Sara Neblett, the wife of Josh Neblett, former CEO of etailz, was employed with the Company as the Vice President of Partner Care of etailz until January 2019. During fiscal
2018 and fiscal 2017, Ms. Neblett received $169,125 and $165,250, respectively, in regular cash compensation. In addition, during fiscal 2018, Ms. Neblett received
approximately $1.0 million under the terms of the etailz acquisition agreement.
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Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Legal Proceedings
 
The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally adjudicated. Although there can be no
assurance as to the ultimate disposition of these matters, it is management’s opinion, based upon the information available at this time, that the expected outcome of these
matters, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Company.
 
Loyalty Memberships and Magazine Subscriptions Class Action
On November 14, 2018, three consumers filed a putative class action complaint against Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Synapse Group, Inc. in the United States
District Court for the District of Massachusetts Boston Division (Case No.1:18-cv-12377-DPW) concerning enrollment in the Company’s Backstage Pass VIP loyalty program
and associated magazine subscriptions. The complaint alleges, among other things, that the Company’s “negative option marketing” misled consumers into enrolling for
membership and subscriptions without obtaining the consumers’ consent. The complaint seeks statutory and actual damages.
 
The Company has filed a motion to dismiss the case which remains pending; however the court has already dismissed the plaintiffs’ only claim under federal law. The court has
not yet decided the rest of the motion, but has indicated its preliminary agreement with significant portions of that motion, including that the case should not be able to proceed
as a class action. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the plaintiffs’ claims and, if the court does not grant the Company’s motion to dismiss in full, the
Company intends to vigorously defend the action.
 
Store Manager Class Actions
There are two pending class actions. The first, Spack v. Trans World Entertainment Corp. was originally filed in the District of New Jersey, April 2017 (the “Spack Action”).
The Spack Action alleges that Trans World misclassified Store Managers as exempt nationwide. It also alleges violations of New Jersey and Pennsylvania State Law with
respect to the Trans World’s use of the fluctuating workweek method to pay Senior Assistant Managers at stores located in those two states, and that managers and assistant
managers worked “off-the-clock.” The second, Roper v. Trans World Entertainment Corp., was filed in the Northern District of New York, May 2017 (the “Roper Action”). The
Roper Action also asserts a nationwide misclassification claim on behalf of Store Managers. Both actions were consolidated into the Northern District of New York, with the
Spack Action being the lead case.
 
Plaintiffs moved for conditional certification, June 2018 and partially granted in January 2019. The opt-in period for the collective that was certified closed on April 6, 2019.
Once the scope of the conditionally certified collective is known, opt-in discovery relating to that collective will commence. Company plans to move to decertify that collective.
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Note 13. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
 
(in thousands, except for per share amounts)
 

  Fiscal 2018 Quarter Ended  
 Fiscal February 2, November 3, August 4, May 5,
 2018 2019 (3) 2018 2018 2018
      

Total Revenue $418,190 $127,429 $91,984 $102,174 $96,603
Gross profit 128,074 36,827 27,386 32,173 31,688
Net income (loss) ($97,382) ($65,673) ($14,052) ($9,510) ($8,147)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share ($2.68) ($1.81) ($0.39) ($0.26) ($0.22)

      
  Fiscal 2017 Quarter Ended  
 Fiscal February 3, October 28, July 29, April 29,
 2017 2018 (2) 2017 2017 2017 (1)

      
Total Revenue $442,856 $145,409 $93,001 $102,479 $101,967
Gross profit 143,843 40,787 31,581 35,170 36,305
Net income (loss) ($42,553) ($32,450) ($8,071) ($5,565) $3,533
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share ($1.18) ($0.90) ($0.22) ($0.15) $0.10
 
 1. Includes $8.7 million gain from insurance proceeds.
   
 2. Includes $29.1 million impairment of fixed assets.
   
 3. Includes $59.7 million impairment of fixed assets, intangible assets, and goodwill.
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4.9 Letter Agreement between Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association dated as of October 29, 2018 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 1, 2018).

  
4.10 Letter Agreement between Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association dated as of May 3, 2019 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 6, 2019).
  
10.1 Amended and Restated Lease, dated December 4, 2015, between Robert J. Higgins, as Landlord, and Record Town, Inc. and Trans World Entertainment Corporation,

as Tenant – incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 31, 1998. Commission
File No. 0-14818.

  
10.5 Trans World Music Corporation 1990 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and restated – incorporated herein by reference to Annex A to

Trans World’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A filed as of May 19, 2000. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.6 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated May 1, 1995 between the Company and its officers and directors—incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 29, 1995. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.7 Trans World Entertainment Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended – incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s

Form 8-K filed on July 16, 2012. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.8 Trans World Entertainment Corporation 2005 Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plan–incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to Trans World

Entertainment Corporation’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A filed as of May 11, 2005. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.9 Trans World Entertainment Corporation Bonus Plan – incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to Trans World Entertainment Corporation’s Definitive Proxy

Statement on Form 14A filed as of May 30, 2014. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.10 Trans World Entertainment Corporation Amended and Restated 2005 Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plan—incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to

Trans World Entertainment Corporation’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A filed as of May 30, 2014. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.11 Employment Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2014 between the Company and Michael Feurer,– incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s

Form 8-K filed on September 3, 2014. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.12 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated February 26, 2019 between the Company and Michael Feurer,– incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2019. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.13 Severance, Retention and Restrictive Covenant Agreement between the Company and Bruce J. Eisenberg, dated February 26, 2019,– incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2019. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
10.14 Severance, Retention and Restrictive Covenant Agreement between the Company and Edwin J. Sapienza, dated February 26, 2019,– incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2019. Commission File No. 0-14818.
  
*10.15 Separation Agreement between the Company and Josh Neblett, dated March 11, 2019.
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*21 Significant Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
  
*23 Consent of KPMG LLP.
  
*31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer dated May 14, 2019, relating to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended February 2, 2019, pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15a-14(a).
  
*31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer dated May 14, 2019, relating to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended February 2, 2019, pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15a-14(a).
  
*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Registrant, dated May 14, 2019, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 relating to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended February 2, 2019.
 
*101.INS XBRL Instance Document
  
*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
  
*101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
  
*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
  
*101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
  
*101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
 
* Filed herewith
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Exhibit 4.2
 

DESCRIPTION OF TRANS WORLD CAPITAL STOCK
 

AUTHORIZED CAPITAL STOCK
 

Trans World’s certificate of incorporation authorizes 200,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value
$.01 per share.

 
COMMON STOCK
 

Each outstanding share of Trans World common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders, including the election of directors. All
shareholder action may be effected at a duly called meeting at which a quorum is present, except as otherwise provided by law. A majority of votes cast by shareholders is
required for any action to which shareholders are entitled to vote, except as otherwise provided by law and except that directors are elected by a plurality of votes cast. The
holders of Trans World common stock do not have cumulative voting rights. Dividends may be paid to holders of Trans World common stock when and if declared by the
board of directors out of legally available funds.

 
Holders of Trans World common stock have no conversion, redemption or preemptive rights. All outstanding shares of Trans World common stock are fully paid and

nonassessable. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the affairs of Trans World, holders of Trans World common stock will be entitled to share ratably in
the assets of Trans World remaining after payment of creditors and after the liquidation preference, if any, of preferred stock outstanding at the time.

 
PREFERRED STOCK
 

No shares of preferred stock have been issued. Trans World’s board may, without further action by Trans World’s shareholders, from time to time authorize the
issuance of up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in series and may, at the time of issuance, determine the rights, preferences and limitations of each series. Satisfaction of
any dividend preferences of outstanding preferred stock would reduce the amount of funds available for the payment of dividends on Trans World common stock. Also, holders
of preferred stock would normally be entitled to receive a preference payment in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Trans World before any payment is
made to the holders of Trans World common stock. In addition, under certain circumstances, the issuance of such preferred stock may render more difficult or tend to
discourage a merger, tender offer or proxy contest, the assumption of control by a holder of a large block of Trans World’s securities or the removal of incumbent management.
Although Trans World presently has no plans to issue any shares of preferred stock, the Trans World board, without shareholder approval, may issue preferred stock with voting
and conversion rights that could adversely affect the holders of Trans World common stock.

 
NEW YORK ANTI-TAKEOVER LAW
 

Section 912 of New York Business Corporation Law prohibits a New York corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested shareholder”
for a period of five years from the date that such interested shareholder acquired its stock unless such acquisition or the business combination was approved by the corporation’s
board of directors prior to the interested shareholder’s becoming such. After such five-year period, the business combination must be approved by a majority of shareholders
other than the interested shareholder or the price paid to all shareholders must meet certain conditions relating to the type and minimum amount of consideration to be paid to
shareholders other than the interested shareholder.

 
For purposes of Section 912, a “business combination” includes:

 



· a merger or consolidation,
· a sale, lease, pledge or other disposition of assets,
· a stock issuance or transfer,
· a liquidation or dissolution,
· a reclassification of securities,
· a recapitalization, or
· any transaction in which an interested shareholder benefits disproportionately in relation to any other shareholder.

 
An “interested shareholder” is defined as any person or entity that currently owns , directly or indirectly, or in the case of affiliates and associates of the

corporation, that owned at any time during the past five years, more than 20% of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation.
 
These provisions may discourage open market purchases or a non-negotiated tender or exchange offers for the stock of a New York corporation such as Trans World,

and, accordingly, may be adverse to the interests of a shareholder who would desire to participate in such a transaction.
 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
 

New York law generally provides that the consummation of a merger, consolidation, dissolution or disposition of substantially all of the assets of a New York
corporation requires:

 
· the approval of the corporation’s board of directors;
· the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of all outstanding shares entitled to vote, unless

o the corporation’s certificate of incorporation requires only the affirmative vote of a majority of all outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon, or
o the corporation was incorporated after February 22, 1998; and

· in certain situations, the affirmative vote by the holders of a majority of all outstanding shares of each class or series of shares.
 
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
 

Computershare, Inc. is the transfer agent and registrar for Trans World common stock.
 

AMENDMENTS TO CERTIFICATES OF INCORPORATION
 

Generally, under New York law, proposed amendments to a corporation’s certificate of incorporation may be authorized by a vote of the board of directors followed
by the vote of a majority of all outstanding shares. If the amendment would adversely affect the rights of any holders of shares of a class or series, the vote of the holders of a
majority of all outstanding shares of that class or series, voting as a class, is also necessary to authorize the amendment even though they ordinarily would not have voting
rights. Trans World’s certificate of incorporation does not contain any provisions relating to its amendment.

 
AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS
 

Under New York law, except as otherwise provided in its certificate of incorporation, a corporation’s by-laws may be amended, repealed or adopted by a majority of
the votes cast by the shares at the time entitled to vote in the election of any directors. When so provided in its certificate of incorporation or a by-law adopted by the
shareholders, a corporation’s by-laws also may be amended, repealed or adopted by the board but any by-law adopted by the board may be amended or repealed by the
shareholders entitled to vote on the by-law as provided by New York law.

 
Trans World’s certificate of incorporation provides that the board of directors is authorized to make, alter or repeal Trans World’s by-laws, but that any by-law

adopted by the board of directors may be amended or repealed the shareholders entitled to vote thereon and the shareholders may at any
 



time limit the power of the board of directors to amend, alter or repeal any by-law adopted by the shareholders. Additionally, Trans World’s by-laws provide that the board of
directors may make, alter or repeal Trans World’s by-laws, but that any by-law adopted by the board of directors may be amended or repealed by the shareholders.
 
PREEMPTIVE RIGHTS
 

Trans World’s certificate of incorporation provides that no holder of Trans World common stock has any preemptive rights with respect to any shares or other
securities of Trans World.

 
REDEMPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
 

Trans World’s certificate of incorporation does not provide for the redemption of any stock.
 

DIVIDEND SOURCES
 

Under New York law, except as otherwise provided by New York law, a corporation may declare and pay dividends or make other distributions out of surplus only, so
that the net assets of the corporation remaining after the declaration, payment or distribution must at least equal the amount of its stated capital. A corporation may declare and
pay dividends or make other distributions, except when the corporation is insolvent or would thereby be made insolvent, or when the declaration, payment or distribution would
be contrary to any restrictions contained in the corporation’s certificate of incorporation.

 
SHAREHOLDER ACTION

 
Under New York law, unless otherwise provided in a corporation’s certificate of incorporation, any action required or permitted to be taken by shareholder vote may

be taken without a meeting on written consent signed by the holders of all outstanding shares entitled to vote or, if the certificate of incorporation so permits, signed by the
holders of outstanding shares having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize such action at a meeting. Trans World’s certificate of
incorporation does not contain any provisions relating to shareholder action by written consent.

 
SPECIAL SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS
 

New York law provides that special meeting of shareholders may be called by the board and by the persons authorized by the certificate of incorporation or the by-
laws. New York law further provides that if, for a period of one month after the date fixed by or under the by-laws for the annual meeting of shareholders or, if no date has been
so fixed, for a period of 13 months after the last annual meeting, there is a failure to elect a sufficient number of directors to conduct the business of the corporation, the board
shall call a special meeting for the election of directors. If the special meeting is not called by the board within two weeks after the expiration of the period or if it is called but
there is a failure to elect the directors for a period of two months after the expiration of the period, holders of 10% of the votes of the shares entitled to vote in an election of
directors may, demand a special meeting for the election of directors.

 
Trans World’s by-laws provide that special meetings of shareholders may be called by the Chairman of the Board, if any, the Chief Executive Officer or a majority of

the board of directors.
 

CUMULATIVE VOTING
 

Under New York law, the certificate of incorporation of a corporation may provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors. Trans World’s certificate of
incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

 
NUMBER AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

 



Subject to certain limitations, New York law permits the number of directors of a corporation to be fixed by its by-laws, by action of the shareholders or by action of
the board under the specific provision of a by-law adopted by the shareholders. At each annual meeting of the shareholders, directors are to be elected to hold office until the
next annual meeting, except for corporations with classified boards. New York law permits the certificate of incorporation or the specific provisions of a by-law adopted by the
shareholders to provide that directors be divided into either two, three or four classes. All classes must be as nearly equal in number as possible. The term of office of one class
of directors shall expire each year, with the terms of office of no two classes expiring the same year.

 
Trans World’s certificate of incorporation provides that all directors elected at the annual meeting of shareholders shall hold office until the next annual meeting of

shareholders and until his or her successor shall be elected and shall qualify, subject, however, to prior death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office.
 
Trans World’s by-laws provide that the number of directors constituting the entire board of directors shall be fixed from by resolution duly adopted from time to time

by a majority of the board of directors. However, no decrease in the number of directors will shorten the term of any incumbent director.
 

REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
 

New York law provides that any or all of the directors may be removed for cause by vote of the shareholders. The certificate of incorporation or the specific provisions
of a by-law adopted by the shareholders may provide for the removal by action of the board, except in the case of any director elected by cumulative voting, or by the holders of
the shares of any class or series, or holders of bonds, voting as a class, when so entitled by the certificate of incorporation. If the certificate of incorporation or the by-laws so
provide, any or all of the directors may be removed without cause by vote of the shareholders.

 
The removal of directors, with or without cause, is subject to the following:
 
· in the case of a corporation having cumulative voting, no director may be removed when the votes cast against the director’s removal would be sufficient to elect

the director if voted cumulatively; and
· if a director is elected by the holders of shares of any class or series, the director may be removed only by the applicable vote of the holders of the shares

of that class or series voting as a class.
 

An action to procure a judgment removing a director for cause may be brought by the attorney general or by the holders of 10% of the outstanding shares, whether or
not entitled to vote.

 
Trans World’s by-laws provide that the board of directors, by a vote of not less than a majority of the entire Board, at any meeting thereof, or by written consent, at

any time, may, to the extent permitted by law, remove with or without cause from office or terminate the employment of any director.
 

VACANCIES
 

Under New York law, newly created directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors and vacancies occurring in the board for any reason except the
removal of directors without cause may be filled by vote of the board of directors then in office, though less than a quorum. However, the certificate of incorporation or by-laws
may provide that such newly created directorships or vacancies are to be filled by vote of the shareholders. Unless the certificate of incorporation or the specific provisions of a
by-law adopted by the shareholders provide that the board may fill vacancies occurring on the board by reason of the removal of directors without cause, such vacancies may be
filled only by vote of the shareholders.

 



A director elected to fill a vacancy, unless elected by the shareholders, will hold office until the next meeting of shareholders at which the election of directors is in the
regular order of business and until his or her successor is elected and qualified. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or by-laws, notwithstanding the
above, whenever the holders of any class or classes of shares or series are entitled to elect one or more directors by the certificate of incorporation, any vacancy that may be
filled by the board or a majority of the directors then in office will be filled by a majority of the directors then in office elected by the class or classes or series. However, if no
such director is in office, then the vacancy may be filed as provided above.

 
Trans World’s certificate of incorporation provides that any and all vacancies in the board of directors, however occurring, including by reason of an increase in size of

the board of directors, or death, resignation, disqualification or removal of a director, shall be filled solely by appointment via an affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining
directors then in office, even if less than a quorum of the board of directors. Any director so appointed shall serve until the next shareholders’ meeting held for the election of
directors until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified.

 
Trans World’s by-laws provide that any vacancy in the office of any directors of officer occurring for any reason, including a removal without cause, may be filled at

any time by a majority of the directors then in office, even though less than a quorum remains and the person chosen will hold office until his successor is elected and qualified.
 

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
 

Under New York law, a corporation may indemnify its directors and officers made, or threatened to be made, a party to any action or proceeding, except for
shareholder derivative suits, if the director or officer acted in good faith, for a purpose which he or she reasonably believed to be in or, in the case of service to another
corporation or enterprise, not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, in criminal proceedings, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.
In the case of shareholder derivative suits, the corporation may indemnify a director or officer if he or she acted in good faith for a purpose which he or she reasonably believed
to be in or, in the case of service to another corporation or enterprise, not opposed to the best interests of the corporation. However, no indemnification may be made in respect
of

 
· a threatened action, or a pending action which is settled or otherwise disposed of, or
· any claim, issue or matter as to which the person has been adjudged to be liable to the corporation,

 
unless and only to the extent that the court in which the action was brought, or, if no action was brought, any court of competent jurisdiction, determines upon application that, in
view of all the circumstances of the case, the person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for the portion of the settlement amount and expenses as the court deems
proper.
 

Any person who has been successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of a civil or criminal action or proceeding will be entitled to indemnification. Except as
provided in the preceding sentence, unless ordered by a court pursuant to New York law, any indemnification under New York law pursuant to the above paragraph may be
made only if authorized in the specific case and after a finding that the director or officer met the requisite standard of conduct by:

 
· the disinterested directors if a quorum is available,
· by the board upon the written opinion of independent legal counsel, or
· by the shareholders.

 
The indemnification described above under New York law is not exclusive of other indemnification rights to which a director or officer may be entitled by:

· the certificate of incorporation or by-laws;
· a resolution of shareholders;
· a resolution of directors; or

 



· an agreement providing for such indemnification.
 

However, no indemnification may be made to or on behalf of any director or officer if a judgment or other final adjudication adverse to the director or officer
establishes that his or her acts were committed in bad faith or were the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and were material to the cause of action so adjudicated, or that
he or she personally gained in fact a financial profit or other advantage to which he or she was not legally entitled.

 
Trans World’s by-laws provide that, except to the extent expressly prohibited by New York law, Trans World shall indemnify each person made or threatened to be

made a party to any action or proceedings, whether civil or criminal, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of Trans World, or serves or served at
the request of Trans World any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise in any capacity, against liabilities or losses, incurred
in connection with the action or proceedings, or any appeal. However, no indemnification will be made if a judgment or other final determination adverse to the person
establishes that his or her acts were committed in bad faith or were the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and were material to the cause of action, or that he or she
personally gained in fact a financial profit or other advantage to which he or she was not legally entitled. Moreover, no indemnification will be required with respect to any
settlement or other nonadjudicated disposition of any threatened or pending action or proceedings unless Trans World has given its prior consent. Trans World’s by-laws
require advances of reasonable expenses incurred in defending or otherwise participating in a proceeding to persons entitled to indemnification in connection with such
proceeding, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such person to repay such amounts if such person is ultimately found not to be entitled to indemnification or,
where indemnification is granted, to the extent those advances exceed the amount to which the person is entitled.

 
LIMITATION OF PERSONAL LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS
 

New York law provides that a corporation’s certificate of incorporation may contain a provision eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors to the
corporation or its shareholders for damages for any breach of duty in such capacity. However, no such provision can eliminate or limit the liability of any director:

 
· if a judgment or other final adjudication adverse to such director establishes that such director’s acts or omissions were in bad faith, or involved intentional

misconduct or a knowing violation of law, or that the director personally gained in fact a financial profit or other advantage to which such director was not legally
entitled or that the director’s acts violated certain provisions of New York law; or

· for any act or omission prior to the adoption of such a provision in the certificate of incorporation.
 

Trans World’s certificate of incorporation contains a provision, eliminating the personal liability of directors to the corporation and the shareholders for damages for
any breach of duty in such capacity except to the extent that such elimination of liability is not permitted under New York law.
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TRANS WORLD
ENTERTAINMENT

 
Personal and Confidential

 
SEPARATION AGREEMENT

 
March 11, 2019
 
Mr. Josh Neblett
 
Dear Josh:
 
Reference is made to the letter agreement dated October 17, 2016 from Trans World Entertainment Corporation (the “ Company”) to you
pursuant to which you have served as Chief Executive Officer of etailz Inc. (“etailz”), a subsidiary of the Company (the “Letter Agreement”).
This agreement (the “Agreement”) sets forth the terms of your separation from etailz.
 

1.          Separation. We have agreed that your employment with etailz and its affiliates was terminated by etailz effective on
the date set forth above, March 11, 2019 (the “Separation Date”). You hereby resign from all positions and offices, if any, that you hold with
etailz, the Company or any entity that is a subsidiary of, or is otherwise related to or affiliated with, the Company, effective on the Separation
Date.

 
2.          Severance. You acknowledge that you have previously received (i) your base salary and any accrued but unused

vacation, in each case through the Separation Date, and (ii) reimbursement of business expenses incurred prior to the Separation Date in
accordance with the policies of the Company. In consideration for the Release and your covenants set forth below, (x) you will receive a lump
sum payment in the amount of $142,500 within ten days after the date this Agreement is fully executed (the “Payment Date”), and (y) provided
that you were participating in the Company’s group health, dental and vision plans on the Separation Date and elect on a timely basis to
continue that participation in some or all of the offered plans through the federal law commonly known as “COBRA,” then you will be
reimbursed for your actual COBRA premiums paid for the period from the Separation Date through September 11, 2019 or until you are
eligible to enroll in the health, dental and/or vision plans of another employer, if earlier. In accordance with the final paragraph of Section 5 of
the Letter Agreement, if you obtain a subsequent employment position or engagement prior to September 11, 2019, any compensation or fees
you earn or receive during that period pursuant to such subsequent employment or engagement shall reduce the severance payment obligations
hereunder on a dollar for dollar basis, and you shall, within ten days following demand by the Company, repay to the Company in cash the
amount of any such reduction. You will provide the Company with written notice as soon as practicable following the date you obtain a
subsequent position, which notice shall further specify the amount of compensation you will receive from such subsequent employment or
engagement for the period prior to September 11, 2019. Except as specifically set forth in this Section 2, you agree that you will not be entitled
to any other compensation or benefits from the Company, etailz or their affiliates after the Separation Date.
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3.          Release. By executing this Agreement, which includes this Release (“Release”), you have advised the Company and
etailz that you waive any and all claims against the Company, etailz and their subsidiaries and affiliated or related entities, and any and all of
their respective predecessors, successors, assigns and employee benefit plans, and in such capacities their respective past, present or future
officers, directors, shareholders, employees, trustees, fiduciaries, administrators, agents or representatives (collectively, the “Releasees”) and
you irrevocably and unconditionally release and forever discharge any such claims except as specifically provided below. You understand and
agree that this Release extends to all claims, demands, liabilities and causes of action of every kind, nature and description whatsoever,
whether known, unknown or suspected to exist, which you ever had or may now have against the Releasees, including, without limitation, any
claims, demands, liabilities and causes of action arising from your employment with etailz or its affiliates and the termination of that
employment, including any claims for severance or vacation pay, business expenses, and/or pursuant to any federal, state, county, or local
employment laws, regulations, executive orders, or other requirements, including, but not limited to, the Civil Rights Acts, the Americans with
Disabilities Act, the Workers Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, Sections 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, all as amended, and any other local, state or federal fair employment laws, and any
contract or tort claims. However, you do not waive or release any rights you may have relating to (i) tax-qualified retirement benefits accrued
and vested prior to the Separation Date, (ii) accrued and unpaid welfare benefit claims incurred prior to your termination of participation in
such plans, (iii) the benefits specifically provided in Section 2 above, and (iv) any rights or claims which cannot legally be waived or released.

 
4.          Restrictive Covenants. You hereby reaffirm your covenants relating to Non-Solicitation, Non-Compete,

Confidentiality, and Intellectual Property set forth in Sections 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 in the Letter Agreement, each of which are incorporated herein
by reference, may be enforced by etailz and/or the Company and shall continue in effect following the Separation Date in accordance with their
terms. You also hereby reaffirm your covenants relating to Non-Solicitation and Non-Compete in Section 7.1 of the Share Purchase Agreement
by and among etailz, the Sellers named therein (including you), Thomas C. Simpson, as Sellers’ Representative and the Company dated as of
October 17, 2016 (the “Purchase Agreement”), each of which have a term of two years from the Separation Date and may be enforced by etailz
and/or the Company. Notwithstanding your obligation not to directly or indirectly disclose, reveal, divulge or communicate Confidential
Information as outlined herein, you have the right, without notice to or authorization of the Company or etailz, to communicate and cooperate
in good faith with any self-regulatory organization or U.S. federal, state, or local governmental or law enforcement branch, agency,
commission, or entity (collectively, a “Government Entity”) for the purpose of (i) reporting a possible violation of any U.S. federal, state, or
local law or regulation, (ii) participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted or managed by any Government Entity,
including by providing documents or other information, or (iii) filing a charge or complaint with a Government Entity, provided that in each
case, such communications, participation, and disclosures are consistent with applicable law. Additionally, you shall not be held criminally or
civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or
local government official, or to an attorney, solely
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for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, or (ii) in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other
proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. If you file a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law, you
may disclose the trade secret to your attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if you file any document containing
the trade secret under seal; and do not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. All disclosures permitted under this Section 4
are herein referred to as “Permitted Disclosures.” Notwithstanding the foregoing, under no circumstance will you be authorized to disclose
any Confidential Information as to which the Company or etailz may assert protections from disclosure under the attorney-client privilege or
the attorney work product doctrine, without prior written consent of Company’s Chief Executive Officer or other authorized officer designated
by the Company.
 

5.          Return of Company Property. You hereby affirm that you have returned to the Company or etailz all property of the
Company, etailz, or any of their subsidiaries in your possession or control, including, without limitation, all computers, records, paper and
electronic files, documents, software programs, and copies thereof, pertaining to the business of the Company, etailz, or any of their
subsidiaries as such records, files, documents and programs may constitute trade secrets and proprietary information belonging solely to the
Company, etailz, or any of their subsidiaries. You may not retain copies of any such records, files, documents or programs, and hereby
relinquish and assign to the Company any and all rights, if any, that you may have in any such records, files, documents or programs.

 
6.          Non-Disparagement. You will not criticize or disparage the Company, etailz or their affiliates or any of their directors,

officers, employees, vendors, products or services. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 6 shall prevent you from making any
truthful statement to the extent, but only to the extent (A) necessary with respect to any litigation, arbitration or mediation involving this
Agreement in the forum in which such litigation, arbitration or mediation properly takes place or (B) required by law, legal process or by any
court, arbitrator, mediator or administrative or legislative body (including any committee thereof) with apparent jurisdiction over you.
Notwithstanding your obligations under this Section 6, you shall have the right to make the Permitted Disclosures as outlined in Section 4
above.

 
7.          Future Cooperation. During the period beginning on the Separation Date and ending on September 11, 2019, you

agree that you shall, without any additional compensation, respond to reasonable requests for information from the Company or etailz
regarding matters that may arise in the business of the Company, etailz or their affiliates relating to your period of service with etailz. You
agree that you will respond to any such requests promptly. Additionally, at any time following the Separation Date, you agree to fully and
completely cooperate with the Company and etailz, their advisors and their legal counsel with respect to any litigation that is pending against
the Company, etailz or their affiliates and any claim or action that may be filed against them in the future. Such cooperation shall include
making yourself available at reasonable times and places for interviews, reviewing documents, testifying in a deposition or a legal or
administrative proceeding, and providing advice to the Company and etailz in preparing defenses to any pending or potential future claims
against the Company, etailz or their affiliates. The Company will reimburse you for any approved travel expenses incurred as a re-
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sult of your cooperation with the Company, and etailz will reimburse you for any approved travel expenses incurred as a result of your
cooperation with it.

 
8.          Non-Admission of Liability. This Agreement shall not be construed as an admission by you, the Company or etailz of

any liability to the other, breach of any agreement between them or violation by the parties to this Agreement of any statute, law or regulation.
 
9.          Taxes. The Company and/or etailz may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement all federal, state, city

or other taxes they are required to withhold pursuant to any applicable law, regulation or ruling.
 

10.        Governing Law. This Agreement shall in all respects be interpreted, construed and governed by and in accordance with
the internal substantive laws of the State of New York, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof.

 
11.        Severability. Should any provision of this Agreement be declared or be determined by any court to be invalid, the

validity of the remaining parts, terms or provisions shall not be affected thereby, and said invalid part, term or provision shall be deemed not to
be part of this Agreement. The waiver of a breach of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of
any other provision of this Agreement or a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same provision.

 
12.        Voluntary Execution. You acknowledge that you are executing this Agreement voluntarily and of your own free will

and that you fully understand and intend to be bound by the terms of this Agreement. Further, you acknowledge that you have had an
opportunity to carefully review this Agreement with your attorney prior to executing it or warrant that you have chosen not to have your
attorneys review this Agreement prior to signing. You hereby acknowledge that the benefits and amounts to be paid to you hereunder exceed
any benefit to which you are otherwise entitled. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and by signatures transmitted by fax or email.

 
13.        Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Company, etailz and you with respect

to the subject matter of this Agreement, and there are no other written or oral agreements, understandings or arrangements except as set forth
herein. This Agreement supersedes the Letter Agreement, except to the extent the provisions of the Letter Agreement are expressly
incorporated herein. For the avoidance of doubt, this Agreement does not supersede the provisions of Sections 7.1, 7.3 or 7.4 of the Purchase
Agreement. Any amendments, additions or other modifications to this Agreement must be done in writing, signed by all parties, and subject to
approval of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer in order to be binding.

 
14.        Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by you, the

Company, etailz and their respective heirs, executors, personal representatives, successors and assigns, except that no party may assign any
rights or delegate any obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other parties. You hereby consent to the assignment by the
Company and/or etailz of all of their rights and obligations
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hereunder to any successor to the Company and/or etailz, as the case may be, by merger or consolidation or any purchaser of all or substantially
all of the assets of the Company and/or etailz, as the case may be.
 

[The remainder of this page was intentionally left blank.]
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Please acknowledge your agreement to the foregoing by signing below (including inserting the date) and returning the signed Agreement to
me.
 
Sincerely,
 
TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
 
____________________________
By: Mike Feurer
Chief Executive Officer
 
ETAILZ INC.
 
____________________________
By: Edwin J. Sapienza
Secretary
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO:
 
____________________________
Josh Neblett
 
Date: ____________________
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EXHIBIT 21
 

TRANS WORLD ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION
 

SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
 

 
Name of Significant 

Subsidiary
 

State of Incorporation
 

Subsidiary Trade Names
Record Town, Inc.  New York  Record Town, Inc.
    CD World
    fye Games
    Manifest
    Record and Tape Traders
    Streetside Records
    Specs
    Spin Street
    fye.com
    wherehouse.com
    secondspin.com
     
Record Town USA, LLC  Delaware  Record Town USA, LLC
    fye (For Your Entertainment)
    Coconuts
    Saturday Matinee
    fye movies
    Second Spin
    Wherehouse Music
    Suncoast Motion Pictures
    Sam Goody
     
Record Town Utah, LLC  New York  Record Town Utah, LLC
    fye Superstore
     
Trans World New York, LLC  New York  Trans World New York, LLC
     
Trans World Florida, LLC  Florida  Trans World Florida, LLC
     
etailz, Inc.  Washington  etailz

 



EXHIBIT 23
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-1 (No. 333-194933), Form S-4 (No. 333-75231) and Form S-8 (Nos. 033-
59319, 333-75231, 333-81685, 333-101532, 333-128210 and 333-220432) of our report dated May 14, 2019, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets
of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries (Trans World Entertainment Corporation) as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the two-year period
ended February 2, 2019, and the related notes, which report appears in the February 2, 2019 annual report on Form 10-K of Trans World Entertainment
Corporation.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Albany, New York
May 14, 2019

 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF SARBANES OXLEY ACT 2002
 
 I, Michael Feurer, certify that:
 
 (1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10–K of Trans World Entertainment Corporation (“the Registrant”);
   
 (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
   
 (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
   
 (4) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a–15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a – 15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

   
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

   
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
   
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 
 (5) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors(or persons performing equivalent functions):
 



 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

   
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Dated: May 14, 2019
 /s/Michael Feurer  
 Chief Executive Officer
 Trans World Entertainment Corporation

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF SARBANES OXLEY ACT 2002
 
I, Edwin Sapienza, certify that:
 
 (1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10–K of Trans World Entertainment Corporation (“the Registrant”);
   
 (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
   
 (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
   
 (4) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a–15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a – 15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

   
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

   
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
   
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 
 (5) The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors(or persons performing equivalent functions):
 



 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

   
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Dated: May 14, 2019
 /s/ Edwin Sapienza  
 Chief Financial Officer
 Trans World Entertainment Corporation

 



Exhibit 32
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Trans World Entertainment Corporation (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-K for the period ending February 2, 2019 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Mike Feurer, Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant and Edwin Sapienza, Chief Financial
Officer of the Registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of our knowledge:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
   
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
 
/s/ Michael Feurer  /s/ Edwin Sapienza
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer
May 14, 2019  May 14, 2019
 
This certification shall not be deemed to be “filed” for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and will not be incorporated by reference
into any registration statement filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, unless specifically identified as being incorporated therein by reference.
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed
form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Trans World Entertainment and will be retained by Trans World
Entertainment and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 


